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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE PREPARATION
AND APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007
The following statement, which should be read in conjunction with the independent auditors'
responsibilities stated in the independent auditors' report set out on page 2, is made with a view to
distinguishing the respective responsibilities of management and those of the independent aud~tors in
relation to the consolidated financial statements of "Ata Holding" OJSC (the "Group").
Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that present
fairly the financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2007, the results of its operations,
consolidated cash flows and changes in equity for the year ended, in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS").
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for:
• Selecting suitable accounting principles and applying them consistently;
• Making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
• Stating whether the IFRS have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements; and
• Preparing the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate
to presume that the Group will continue in business for the foreseeable future.
Management is also responsible for:
• Designing, implementing
throughout the Group;

and maintaining

an effective and sound system of internal controls,

• Maintaining proper accounting records that disclose, with reasonable accuracy at any time, the
financial position of the Group, and which enable them to ensure that the consolidated financial
statements of the Group comply with the IFRS;
• Maintaining statutory accounting records in compliance with legislation and accounting standards
of the Azerbaijan Republic;
• Taking such steps as are reasonably available to them to safeguard the assets of the Group; and
• Detecting and preventing fraud, errors and other irregularities.
The consolidated financial st~tements for the year ended December 31, 2007 were authorized for
issue on eptember 8, 2008 by the Management Board of the Group.

Gafar Gurbanov
Chairman of the Manage
September 8, 2008

September 8, 2008
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~AKERTILLY
AZERBAIJAN LLC
Caspian Plaza, 8th floor
44 jafar Jabbarli Street
AZ 1065,
Baku
Azerbaijan
Tel: +994 (12) 436 80 65
+994 (12) 436 80 66
Fax: +994 (12) 436 80 67

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS'

REPORT

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of the "Ata Holding" Open Joint Stock Company:

Introduction
We have audited the accompanying consolidated fmancial statements of "Ata Holding" Open Joint
Stock Company and its subsidiaries (the "Group") which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as
at December 31, 2007 and the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management's responsibility for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility
includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of fmancial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor's responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated fmancial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing. Those
Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance whether the fmancial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the fmancial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the fmancial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the fmancial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the fmancial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.

~anlndependentmemberot

BAKER TILLY
INTERNATIONAL
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Basis for qualified opinion
One of the subsidiaries of the Group, "Shemkir Poultry" OJSC has made a decision to invest in
modernization of the production facilities in its factory. Respectively, the subcontractor, "Izopol"
LLC has been selected to provide this service to the subsidiary. Amount of initial agreement was
AZN 2,484,210. This capital investment project has been completed by December 31,2006. Due to
some differences between parties, the act of acceptance has been delayed. Although, in these financial
statements the amount of liability owed to the subcontractor and the total amount of performed works
have been recognized in these fmancial statements, the detailed and classified fixed asset register for
these items have not been provided to auditors and respectively we could not satisfy ourselves
regarding the depreciation amount of the subsidiary in the amount of AZN 191,612 for the financial
year 2007 (2006: AZN 181,107) and the carrying value of the fixed assets as at reporting date on
December 31,2007 and December 31, 2006.
Also, in one of the subsidiaries of the Group, "Ata Turizm" OJSC, which is operating in hospitality
business, several inventory counts have given the divergences from the accounting records of the
entity. The alternative audit procedures performed on the inventory balances have also resulted in
differences with the accounting records. We could not satisfy ourselves in regard of the inventory
balances of this subsidiary in the amount of AZN 304,799 as at reporting date (2006: AZN 321,089).
Respectively, the cost of the sold services and products for this subsidiary has not been able to be
audited for the accounting period of 2007 in the amount of AZN 1,873,926 (2006: AZN 2,173,082) as
a result of the divergences in the inventory items.
Also, one of the subsidiaries of the Group, "Zayamkandmash" OJSC, which is mainly dealing with
the purchase of the agricultural equipment from other countries and sale of these products within
Azerbaijan Republic has purchased mechanical equipment from Republic of Belarus in 2005 and
recognized these items as an inventory in its books in the amount of AZN 300,569. Due to certain
specification of these items, it is impossible to utilize them by the agricultural conditions existing in
the Azerbaijan Republic and therefore this inventory has been deemed impaired as at reporting date.
The net realizable value of this inventory could not be determined and also there is no value in use for
these items by the Group. The fmancial statements include impairment allowance provided for as at
reporting date to diminish the value of this inventory to the half of its purchase cost. As the adjusted
carrying amount of the inventory might be significantly different from the net realizable value, we
could not satisfy ourselves in regard of inventory balance presented in the financial statements.
Also, as at December 31,2007 the management of the Group has classified the fixed assets, mainly
buildings constructed in Shemkir region of Azerbaijan Republic, which is currently used for the
Group's internal purposes in amount of AZN 2,646,079 (2006: 351,135) as non current assets held
for sale. While being prudent, the management of the Group has not presented us precise intention,
date and the counterparty of the sales transaction and neither the fmancial details of planned sale.
Therefore, we have not been able to satisfy ourselves regarding the feasibility and probability of such
transaction being occurred in a foreseeable future. Being classified as non current assets held for sale,
the depreciation has not been calculated and posted to these fmancial statements. If these assets would
remain in fixed asset line, the depreciation calculated for them would be material for the fmancial
statements of the Group and affect its depreciation expenses, carrying value of fixed assets, as well as
the net profit results of the Group.
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Qualified opinion arising from limitation of audit scope
In our opinion, except for the effects of such adjustments to the respective balance sheet and income
statement lines in the financial statements, if any, as might have been determined to be necessary, had
we been able to satisfy ourselves as to the information to be presented in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"), the accompanying financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects the fmancial position of the Group as at December 31, 2007, and its
fmancial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards.
Emphasis of matter
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 41 of the accompanying consolidated
financial statements. A substantial proportion of the Group's assets are due from related parties and
a significant component of the Group's earnings is derived from activities with related parties.
Related parties may enter into transactions which unrelated parties may not and transactions
between related parties may not be effected on the same terms, conditions and amounts as
transactions between unrelated parties.
Also, we draw your attention to the matter as described in Note 2 of the financial statements to the
fact that the economy of the Azerbaijan Republic is highly dependent on oil prices in international
markets. The Azerbaijan Republic displays certain characteristics of an emerging market, including
the existence of a currency that is not freely convertible in most countries outside of Azerbaijan
Republic, restrictive currency controls, relatively high inflation and economic growth.

73atCe; / 1~{yA2~yb~·:io.,-September 8, 2008
Baku, Azerbaijan Republic
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2,646,079
2006
CONSOLIDATED
BALANCE
1,424,313
209,090
5,809,322
632,008
80,937,188
1,894,217
315,408
1,007,292
515,060,770
83,731
2,537,024
557,512
3,572,033
34,543,232
24,643,209
1,312,959
14,095,000
15,174,0133,100,436
959,852
349,284
249,035
10,814,014
1,529,420
82,510
2,751,163
973,651
1,731,548
9,362,635
,657,345
90,755,704
61,569,197
25,693,758
15,153,346
1,999,126
0,501,262
351,135
6,808 SHEET
December
19,021,551
1,116,764
8,395,566
818,963
1,640,614
1,026,286
31,
734150,783,881
1,579,856
December
60,000
31,
61,291,951
10,508,070
75,343,799
Current
liabilities
Other
assets
Current
assets
Provisions
for
liabilities
and charges
31,
2007
AS
AT
DECEMBER
Deferred
tax liability
and income
cashManats)
equivalents
(In Cash
Azerbaijani

Notes
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153,183,598
105,657,502
128,620,389
88,505,030
17,152,472
21,917,130

"ATA HOLDING" OPEN JOINT STOCK COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2007 (Continued)
(In Azerbaijani Manats)
Notes
EQUITY
Share capital
Accumulated deficit

2006
47,930,236
(10,495,067)
27,100,273
2,363,480
37,595,340
December
31,
December
29,463,753
90,755,704 31,

2007
(3,357,545)
47,526,096
2,953,405
44,572,691
153,183,598

26

Equity attributable to the Company's equity holders
Minority interest
Total equity
TOTAL

ABILITIES AND EQUITY

R••bad AI;'''~
Head of the Financial Department
September 8, 2008

September 8, 2008
:t

J (

• ~

"'.

=.

The accompanying notes on pages
are an internal part of these consolidated
Independent Auditors' Report is on pages 2-4.
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"ATA HOLDING" OPEN JOINT STOCK COMPANY
27
33
34
29
20
30
18
28

2006
CONSOLIDATED
INCOME
127,451STATEMENT
11,255,754
(2,516,216)
(738,650)
(337,075)
(339,677)
(901,429)
7,323,697
(11,738,613)
26,569,62715,226,394
(2,906,203)
56,933
(7,902,697)
(152,691)
(65,451)
(4,721,036)
(4,655,585)
December
December
139,570
31,
(3,693,960)
(7,068,124)
(491,290)
(4,502,894)
(716,032)
(6,613,965)
(31,
3,255,488)
(4,860,606)
FOR
THE
YEAR
ENDED
DECEMBER 31,2007
Equity
holders
ofManats)
the
Company
(In
Azerbaijani
Revenue

7,789,903
(597,564)
216,500
11,069,530
11,286,031
8,379,828
305,066
589,925
14,831,014

Notes

On

Rashad Aliyev
Head of the F. nancial Department
September 8, 2008

September 8, 2008

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 77 are an internal part of these consolidated
Independent Auditors' Report is on pages 2-4.
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Interest
26 26JOINT
Retained
34,444,789
589,925
7,789,903
10,334,896
37,595,340
2,223,910
(4,721,036)
8,379,828
47,526,096
29,463,753
2,953,405
2,363,480
139,570
(99,530)
47,930,236
(99,530)
10,334,896
(552,851)
Share
capital
Total
Minority
((3,357,545)
5,374,461)
equity
"ATA HOLDING"
OPEN
STOCK
(10,495,067)
(260,000)
37,595,340 COMPANY
(260,000)
(4,860,606)
(552,851)
Dividends
declared
on ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007
FOR
THE
YEAR
(In
Manats)
- -Azerbaijani
ordinary
ordinary
shares
shares
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
Notes OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Rashad Aliyev
Head of the F nancial Department
September 8, 2008

September 8, 2008

The accompanying notes on pages''',··
are an internal part of these consolidated
Independent Auditors' Report is on pages 2-4.
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"ATA HOLDING" OPEN JOINT STOCK COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007
(In Azerbaijani Manats)

18

2007 31,
10,435
21,438
1,284,743
66,434
41,574,553
3,014,521
(12,073,577)
(5,110,000)
(1,224,065)
(86,783)
(9,000)
(8,985,000)
(29,542,181)
(2,294,944)
December
(41,886)
(5,600,232)
17,836,147
(332,256)
(6,329)
8,268,162
16,848,677
(25,264,075)
2,516,216
(4,744,508)
11,286,031
(866,146)
ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
Profit/Closs) before income tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization of fixed and intangible
Provision for impairment losses on interest bearing assets
and other transactions
Write-down of non-current assets held for sale (or
disposal groups) to fair value less costs to sell
Losses less gains on disposals of property, plant and
Net change in interest accruals
Dividend income
Unrealised foreign exchange losses less gains on nonoperating items
Negative goodwill from the acquisition of the associate
Share of result of associates

Decrease / (increase) in the operating assets
Due from banks
Loans to customers
Other assets
lncrease/(decrease) in the operating liabilities
Due to banks
Customer accounts
Operating cash flows
Decrease/(increase)
Decrease/(increase)
Increase/(decrease)
Increase/(decrease)

before working capital changes
in trade and other receivables
in inventories
in trade and other payables
in taxes payable

Cash generated from operations
Income taxes paid
Net cash from [used in] operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of fixed and intangible assets
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Increase in non current assets held for sale
Purchase of available- for-sale investments
Purchase of held to maturity investments
Receipts from finance lease receivables
Acquisition of associates
Dividends received
Net cash used in investing activities
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Year
ended
Y
2006
ear
117ended 31,
Notes
13,894
393,732
2,450,004
24,250,301
1,933,093
2,971,776
316,059
10,263,286
(2,958,317)
10,530,243
(239,545)
3,693,960
(317,498)
3,255,488
December
901,429
(14,268,788)
(211,294)
(56,933)
(400,000)
(266,957)
(2,405,641)
(471,511)
(4,655,585)
(5,673,550)
(5,805,840)
(49,542)
8,869,248
110,716
50,865
27,707
(305,066)
18,168,403
136,426

"ATA HOLDING" OPEN JOINT STOCK COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007 (Continued)
(In the Azerbaijani Manats)

2007 31,
December
10,334,896
7
8,207,537
309,503
15,325,962
7
5,444,388
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from borrowings
Issue of ordinary shares
Disposal of subsidiary
Dividends paid to the Company's shareholders

2006
Year
ended
Y
ear ended31,
Notes
181,808
10,814,014
19,021,55110,814,014
6,665,761
December
2,154,217
3,441,827
(260,000)
1,894,217
(552,851)99,529

Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
year
H EQUIVALENTS

at the beginning of the

at the end of the year

o

Gafar Gurb;mov
Chairman of the Manage

Ra'hadAliY~
Head of the Financial Department

September 8, 2008

September 8, 2008

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to
are an internal part of these consolidated
Independent Auditors' Report is on pages 2-4.
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“ATA HOLDING” OPEN JOINT STOCK COMPANY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

1.

THE GROUP AND ITS OPERATIONS
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards for the year ended December 31, 2007 for “Ata Holding” OJSC (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” or “Ata Holding” Group).
“Ata Holding” OJSC, the parent company, was incorporated on July 23, 2003 and registered by the
Ministry of Justice of Azerbaijan Republic under the registration number N 1103-T3-3403 and is
domiciled in the Azerbaijan Republic and also has a representative office in the Republic of Georgia.
The Company is a joint stock company and was set up in accordance with the regulations of
Azerbaijan Republic. At December 31, 2007 the controlling owner of the Group is Hughson
Management Inc.
Principal activity
The Group’s principal business activity is providing banking, insurance, hotel, leasing, agricultural
manufacturing and other services within the Azerbaijan Republic. The Group’s manufacturing and
service facilities are primarily based in Baku and Shamkir regions of Azerbaijan Republic. The
Group’s principal place of business is Azerbaijan Republic and specifically regions indicated above.
Registered address and place of business
The Company’s registered address is:
102 Shamsi Badalbayli Street,
Baku AZ1010, Azerbaijan Republic.
Description of the company and its subsidiaries
The scope of the consolidation for the Group purposes include the following companies and with
brief description of their business activities:
“Ata Bank” OJSC is 76% owned subsidiary of the Company, was established as an open joint stock
company. “Ata Bank” OJSC on October 10, 2002 and registered at the by the Ministry of Justice of
Azerbaijan Republic and started its operations October 2002 upon receiving a general banking
licence N 176 from the National Bank of Azerbaijan Republic. “Ata Bank” OJSC is providing to its
customers commercial banking services and is the member of the State Deposit Insurance Fund. As
at December 31, 2007 the Bank had 14 branches and 4 service points.
“Ata Sigorta” OJSC is 60% directly owned subsidiary of the Company and 40% indirectly owned by
“Ata Bank” OJSC and thus fully controlled by the Company. It was established as an open joint
stock company. “Ata Sigorta” OJSC was registered with the Ministry of Justice of Azerbaijan
Republic on September 7, 2004 and started its operations in 2004. “AtaSigorta” OJSC is providing to
its customers insurance and reinsurance services. Insurance business written by the Company
includes, but is not limited to, cargo, property, casualty, third party liability, automobile related
insurance and reinsurance.
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“ATA HOLDING” OPEN JOINT STOCK COMPANY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

“Ata Lizinq” OJSC is 64% directly owned subsidiary of the Company and 36% indirectly owned by
“Ata Bank” OJSC and thus fully controlled by the Company. “Ata Leasing” OJSC was registered
with the Ministry of Justice of Azerbaijan Republic on July 21, 2004 and started its operations in
2004. “Ata Lizinq” OJSC is providing to its customers leasing and refinancing services. “Ata
Leasing” is the member of the Leasing Companies Association of Azerbaijan.
“Ata Inshaat” LLC is 90% directly owned subsidiary of the Company and 10% indirectly owned by
“Ata Turizm” LLC and thus fully controlled by the Company. “Ata Leasing” OJSC was registered
with the Ministry of Justice of Azerbaijan Republic on March 28, 2003 under the registration
number N 0103-P9-37499 and started its operations in 2003. “Ata Inshaat” LLC is providing to its
customers construction and infrastructure building services.
“Ata Turizm” LLC is 90% directly owned subsidiary of the Company and 10% indirectly owned by
“Ata Inshaat” LLC and thus fully controlled by the Company. “Ata Leasing” OJSC was registered
with the Ministry of Justice of Azerbaijan Republic on March 7, 2003 under the registration number
N 0103-P7-37374 and started its operations on 2003. “AtaTurizm” LLC is providing to its
customers various tourism and recreation services.
“Interservis” LLC is 61% directly owned subsidiary of the Company, 31% indirectly owned by
“AtaTurizm” LLC, 9% indirectly owned by “Ata Inshaat” LLC and thus fully controlled by the
Company. “Interservis” LLC was registered with the Ministry of Justice of Azerbaijan Republic.
“Interservis” LLC is not actively functioning for the third parties. It has “Excelsior” (luxury hotel
located in Baku, Azerbaijan Republic) hotel building as its asset and its main activity is to manage
this asset within the Group.
“Shemkir

Gushchulug” LLC is 100% indirectly owned subsidiary (“Shemkir Gushchulug” is 100%
owned by “Ata Sanaye” MMC and “Ata Gushchulug” MMC is 90% directly owned by “Ata
Holding” OJSC and 10% indirectly through “Ata Inshaat” MMC) of the Company. “Shemkir
Gushchulug” LLC was registered with the Ministry of Justice of Azerbaijan Republic on September
18, 2005 and started its operations on 2005. “Shemkir Gushchulug” LLC is mainly engaged with
agricultural manufacturing and more precisely with poultry and egg production.
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“ATA HOLDING” OPEN JOINT STOCK COMPANY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

Other companies included in the scope of the consolidation of “Ata Holding” Group which are
mainly serving internal to the Group companies or have no active operations are following:
Name of the subsidiary
“Interturizm” LLC
“Ata Security” LLC

Direct
ownership, %
100%
90%

Indirect
ownership, %
10%

“Ata Sanaye” LLC

90%

10%

“Sasa Et Mehsullary” LLC

-

100%

“Zayam Kand Mash” OJSC

30%

-

“Shemkir Dash Chingil” LLC

100%

-

“Shemkir Et-Sud” LLC

100%

-

“Ata Treyding” LLC

76%

24%

“Ata Marketing” LLC

76%

24%

“Ata Aqro” LLC

76%

24%

“Ata Gida” LLC

76%

24%

“Ata Tekhnologiya” LLC

90%

10%

-

51%

“Ata Telekom” LLC

60%

-

“Ata Energy” LLC

60%

-

“Ata Telekom” LLC

60%

-

“Ata Neft Gaz” LLC

100%

-

“Ata Holding Georgia” LLC

100%

-

“Sybernet” LLC
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Activity/Industry
Tourism and recreation business.
Security and safety services to Group’s
companies.
Management unit for all industry and
manufacturing companies of the Group
Meat products, sausages and semi
fabricated
meat.
Currently
not
functioning.
Agricultural machine and equipment
trade. Its management decisions and
policies are mainly controlled by “Ata
Holding” OJSC through other related
party private individuals.
Nominal equity investment. The
company is not functioning currently.
Nominal equity investment. The
company is not functioning currently.
Nominal equity investment. The
company is not functioning currently.
Nominal equity investment. The
company is not functioning currently.
Nominal equity investment. The
company is not functioning currently.
Nominal equity investment. The
company is not functioning currently.
Technology and IT solutions mainly for
the internal to the Group companies.
Certain third party transactions also
exist.
An entity created together with
Sybersoft LLC (Turkey) for providing
the customers with that company’s
software solutions.
Nominal equity investment. The
company is not functioning currently.
Nominal equity investment. The
company is not functioning currently.
Nominal equity investment. The
company is not functioning currently.
Nominal equity investment. The
company is not functioning currently.
Nominal equity investment. The
company is not functioning currently.

“ATA HOLDING” OPEN JOINT STOCK COMPANY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

Presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Azerbaijani Manats (“AZN”). The
Azerbaijani Manat is the official currency of the Azerbaijan Republic. Refer to Note 3 for the
exchange rates of AZN as at reporting date.
Shareholders of the Bank
As at December 31, 2007 and 2006, the following shareholders owned the issued ordinary shares of
the parent company:
December 31,
2007, %

Shareholder
Hughson Management Inc.
Asbet Limited
Clonmel International Incorporated
Colton Enterprises S.A.
FM Financial Management Holding OJSC
“Ata Turizm” LTD
“Ata Inshaat” LTD
“Ata Senaye” LTD
Total

2.

December 31,
2006, %

51.00
25.00
24.00
-

51.00
30.92
5.44
6.37
6.27

100.00

100.00

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT OF THE GROUP
The Azerbaijan Republic displays certain characteristics of an emerging market, including the
existence of a currency that is not freely convertible in most countries outside of the Azerbaijan
Republic, restrictive currency controls, relatively high inflation and economic growth. The economy
of Azerbaijan Republic is sensitive to adverse fluctuations in confidence and economic conditions.
The Azerbaijani economy occasionally experiences falls in confidence in the financial sector
accompanied by reductions in liquidity. Management is unable to predict economic trends and
developments in the banking sector and what effect, if any, deterioration in the economic conditions
could have on the financial position of the Group.
The tax, currency and customs legislation within the Azerbaijan Republic is subject to varying
interpretations and changes which can occur frequently. Moreover, the need for further
developments in bankruptcy laws, the absence of formalized procedures for the registration and
enforcement of collateral, and other legal and fiscal impediments contribute to the difficulties
experienced by the Companies currently operating in the Azerbaijan Republic.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) under the historical cost convention. The principal
accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise
stated (refer to Note 5, Adoption of New or Revised Standards and Interpretations).
Going concern
Management have prepared these consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis. In
making this judgement management have considered the current favourable macroeconomic
environment for financial institutions operating in Azerbaijan, positive cash flows, the profitability
of operations and access for foreign financial resources as required.
Presentation currency
All amounts in these financial statements are presented in Azerbaijani Manats ("AZN"), unless
otherwise stated.
Consolidated financial statements
Subsidiaries are those companies and other entities (including special purpose entities) in which the
Group, directly or indirectly, has an interest of more than one half of the voting rights or otherwise
has power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain economic benefits. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are presently exercisable or presently convertible
are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group (acquisition date) and are
de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.
The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost of
an acquisition is measured at the fair value of the assets given up, equity instruments issued and
liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the
acquisition. The date of exchange is the acquisition date where a business combination is achieved
in a single transaction, and is the date of each share purchase where a business combination is
achieved in stages by successive share purchases.
The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the net assets of the acquiree at each
exchange transaction represents goodwill. The excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value
of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired over cost (”negative
goodwill”) is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any
minority interest.
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the cost cannot be recovered. The
Company and all of its subsidiaries use uniform accounting policies consistent with the Group’s
policies.
Minority interest is that part of the net results and of the net assets of a subsidiary, including the fair
value adjustments, which is attributable to interests which are not owned, directly or indirectly, by
the Company. Minority interest forms a separate component of the Group’s equity.
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Purchases of minority interests
Difference, if any, between the carrying amount of a minority interest and the amount paid to
acquire it is recorded as a gain or loss in equity.
Purchases of subsidiaries from parties under common control
Purchases of subsidiaries from parties under common control are accounted for using the pooling of
interest method. Under this method the financial statements of the combined entity are presented as
if the businesses had been combined from the beginning of the earliest period presented. The assets
and liabilities of the subsidiary transferred under common control are at the predecessor entity’s
carrying amounts. Related goodwill inherent in the predecessor entity’s original acquisitions is also
recorded in these financial statements. Any difference between the carrying amount of net assets,
including the predecessor entity's goodwill, and the consideration paid is accounted for in these
consolidated financial statements as an adjustment to equity.
Investments in associates
Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence, but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20 and 50 percent of the voting rights. Investments in
associates are accounted for by the equity method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost.
The carrying amount of associates includes goodwill identified on acquisition less accumulated
impairment losses, if any. The Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of associates is
recorded in the consolidated income statement, and its share of post-acquisition movements in
reserves is recognised in reserves. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or
exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interest in the associates; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Key measurement terms
The Group recognizes financial assets and liabilities on its balance sheet when it becomes a party to
the contractual obligation of the instrument. Regular way purchase and sale of the financial assets
and liabilities are recognized using settlement date accounting. Regular way purchases of financial
instruments that will be subsequently measured at fair value between trade date and settlement date
are accounted for in the same way as for acquired instruments.
Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized at fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss transaction costs that are directly
attributable to acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability. The accounting policies
for subsequent re-measurement of these items are disclosed in the respective accounting policies set
out below.
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Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and provision for
impairment, where required.
Costs of minor repairs and maintenance are expensed when incurred. Cost of replacing major parts
or components of property, plant and equipment items are capitalised and the replaced part is retired.
At each reporting date the management assess whether there is any indication of impairment of
property, plant and equipment. If any such indication exists, the management estimates the
recoverable amount, which is determined as the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and
its value in use. The carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable amount and the impairment loss
is recognised in the income statement. An impairment loss recognised for an asset in prior years is
reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s value in use or fair
value less costs to sell.
Gains and losses on disposals determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount are
recognised in profit or loss.
Depreciation
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other items of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives:
Buildings and other real estate
Furniture and fixture
Computer equipment
Other fixed assets
Vehicles
Intangible assets

7%
25-20%
25-20%
20%
25%
10%

The residual value of an asset is the estimated amount that the Group would currently obtain from
disposal of the asset less the estimated costs of disposal, if the asset were already of the age and in
the condition expected at the end of its useful life. The residual value of an asset is nil if the Group
expects to use the asset until the end of its physical life. The assets’ residual values and useful lives
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.
Operating leases
Where the Group is a lessee in a lease which does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership from the lessor to the Group, the total lease payments are charged to profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
When assets are leased out under an operating lease, the lease payments receivable are recognised as
rental income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Finance lease receivables
Where the Group is a lessor in a lease which transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership to the lessee, the assets leased out are presented as a finance lease receivable
and carried at the present value of the future lease payments. Finance lease receivables are initially
recognised at commencement (when the lease term begins) using a discount rate determined at
inception (the earlier of the date of the lease agreement and the date of commitment by the parties to
the principal provisions of the lease).
The difference between the gross receivable and the present value represents unearned finance
income. This income is recognised over the term of the lease using the net investment method
(before tax), which reflects a constant periodic rate of return. Incremental costs directly attributable
to negotiating and arranging the lease are included in the initial measurement of the finance lease
receivable and reduce the amount of income recognised over the lease term unless the Group acts as
a manufacturer or dealer lessor, in which case such costs are expensed as part of the selling profit
similarly to outright sales. Finance income from leases is recorded within the consolidated income
statement.
Impairment of finance lease receivables is recognised in profit or loss when incurred as a result of
one or more events (“loss events”) that occurred after the initial recognition of finance lease
receivables. Impairment losses are recognised through an allowance account to write down the
receivables’ net carrying amount to the present value of expected cash flows (which exclude future
credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the interest rates implicit in the finance
leases. The estimated future cash flows reflect the cash flows that may result from obtaining and
selling the assets subject to the lease.
Loans to customers
Loans to customers are non-derivative assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active mark other than those classified in other categories of financial assets. Loans
granted by the Bank are initially recognized at fair value plus related transaction costs. Where the
fair value of consideration given does not equal the fair value of the loan, for example where the
loan is issued at lower than market rates, the difference between the fair value of consideration given
and the fair value of the loan is recognized as a loss on initial recognition of the loan and included in
the income statement according to nature of these losses. Subsequently, loans are carried at
amortized cost using the effective interest method. Loans to customers are carried net of any
allowance for impairment losses.
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Impairment of financial assets carried at amortised cost
The Group accounts for impairment losses of financial assets when there is objective evidence, that
a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. Impairment losses are measured as the
difference between carrying amounts and the present value of expected future cash flows, including
amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate, for financial assets which are carried at amortized cost. If in a subsequent
period the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is
reversed. For financial assets carried at cost, the impairment losses are measured as the difference
between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment
losses are not reversed.
The determination of impairment losses is based on an analysis of the risk assets and reflects the
amount which, in the judgment of management, is adequate to provide for losses incurred.
Provisions are made as a result of an individual appraisal of risk assets for financial assets that are
individually significant, and an individual or collective assessment for financial assets that are not
individually significant. The change in impairment losses is charged to profit, and the total of
impairment losses is deducted in arriving at assets as shown in the balance sheet. Factors that the
Group considers in determining whether it has objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred include information about the debtors’ or issuers’ liquidity, solvency and business and
financial risk exposures, levels of and trends in delinquencies for similar financial assets, national
and local economic trends and conditions, and the fair value of collateral and guarantees. These and
other factors may, either individually or taken together, provide sufficient objective evidence that an
impairment loss has been incurred in a financial asset or group of financial assets.
The Group accounts for impairment losses on financial assets at amortised cost using allowance
account, for financial assets measured at cost through direct write off. It should be understood that
estimates of losses involve an exercise of judgment. While it is possible that in particular periods the
Group may sustain losses that are substantially relative to the allowance for impairment losses, it is
the judgment of management that the allowance for impairment losses is adequate to absorb losses
incurred on the risk assets.
Credit related commitments
The Group enters into credit related commitments, including letters of credit and financial
guarantees. Financial guarantees represent irrevocable assurances to make payments in the event
that a customer cannot meet its obligations to third parties and carry the same credit risk as loans.
Financial guarantees and commitments to provide a loan are initially recognised at their fair value,
which is normally evidenced by the amount of fees received. This amount is amortised on a straight
line basis over the life of the commitment, except for commitments to originate loans if it is
probable that the Group will enter into a specific lending arrangement and does not expect to sell the
resulting loan shortly after origination; such loan commitment fees are deferred and included in the
carrying value of the loan on initial recognition. At each balance sheet date, the commitments are
measured at the higher of (i) the remaining unamortised balance of the amount at initial recognition
and (ii) the best estimate of expenditure required to settle the commitment at the balance sheet date.
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Finance leases and derecognition of financial assets
Management applies judgement to determine if substantially all the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of financial assets and lease assets are transferred to counterparties, in particular which
risks and rewards are the most significant and what constitutes substantially all risks and rewards.
Finance lease liabilities
Where the Group is a lessee in a lease which transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership to the Group, the assets leased are capitalised in property, plant and
equipment at the commencement of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the
present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability
and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The
corresponding rental obligations, net of future finance charges, are included in borrowings. The
interest cost is charged to the income statement over the lease period using the effective interest
method. The assets acquired under finance leases are depreciated over their useful life or the shorter
lease term if the Group is not reasonably certain that it will obtain ownership by the end of the lease
term.
Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the acquirer’s
share of the net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired subsidiary or
associate at the date of exchange. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is presented separately in
the consolidated balance sheet. Goodwill on acquisitions of associates is included in the investment
in associates. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.
The Group tests goodwill for impairment at least annually and whenever there are indications that
goodwill may be impaired. Goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating units, or groups of cashgenerating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination. Such
units or group of units represent the lowest level at which the Group monitors goodwill and are not
larger than a segment. Gains or losses on disposal of an operation within a cash generating unit to
which goodwill has been allocated include the carrying amount of goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of, generally measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit which is retained.
If impaired, the carrying amount of intangible assets is written down to the higher of value in use
and fair value less costs to sell.
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Classification of financial assets
The Group classifies its financial assets into the following measurement categories: trading,
available-for-sale, held to maturity and loans and receivables.
Trading investments are securities or other financial assets, which are either acquired for generating
a profit from short-term fluctuations in price or trader’s margin, or are included in a portfolio in
which a pattern of short-term trading exists. The Group classifies financial assets into trading
investments if it has an intention to sell them within a short period after acquisition. Trading
investments are not reclassified out of this category even when the Group’s intentions subsequently
change.
Loans and receivables are unquoted non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments other than those that the Group intends to sell in the near term.
Held to maturity classification includes quoted non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Group has both the intention and ability to hold
to maturity. Management determines the classification of investment securities held to maturity at
their initial recognition and reassesses the appropriateness of that classification at each balance sheet
date.
All other financial assets are included in the available-for-sale category.
Initial recognition of financial instruments
Trading investments and derivatives are initially recorded at fair value. All other financial assets and
liabilities are initially recorded at fair value plus transaction costs. Fair value at initial recognition is
best evidenced by the transaction price. A gain or loss on initial recognition is only recorded if there
is a difference between fair value and transaction price which can be evidenced by other observable
current market transactions in the same instrument or by a valuation technique whose inputs include
only data from observable markets.
All purchases and sales of financial assets that require delivery within the time frame established by
regulation or market convention (“regular way” purchases and sales) are recorded at trade date,
which is the date that the Group commits to deliver a financial asset. All other purchases and sales
are recognised on the settlement date with the change in value between the commitment date and
settlement date not recognised for assets carried at cost or amortised cost; recognised in profit or
loss for trading investments; and recognised in equity for assets classified as available for sale.
Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises financial assets when (i) the assets are redeemed or the rights to cash flows
from the assets have otherwise expired or (ii) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the assets or (iii) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership but has not retained control. Control is retained if
the counterparty does not have the practical ability to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated
third party without needing to impose additional restrictions on the sale.
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Available-for-sale investments
Available-for-sale investments are carried at fair value. Interest income on available for sale debt
securities is calculated using the effective interest method and recognised in profit or loss.
Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s
right to receive payment is established. All other elements of changes in the fair value are deferred
in equity until the investment is derecognised or impaired at which time the cumulative gain or loss
is removed from equity to profit or loss.
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss when incurred as a result of one or more events
(“loss events”) that occurred after the initial recognition of available-for-sale investments.
A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an equity security below its cost is an
indicator that it is impaired. The cumulative impairment loss – measured as the difference between
the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that asset previously
recognised in profit or loss – is removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss. Impairment
losses on equity instruments are not reversed through profit or loss. If, in a subsequent period, the
fair value of a debt instrument classified as available for sale increases and the increase can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss,
the impairment loss is reversed through current period’s profit or loss.
Held to maturity investments
Held to maturity investments are carried at amortised costs using the effective interest method, net
of a provision for incurred impairment losses.
Trading investments
Trading investments are carried at fair value. Interest earned on trading investments calculated using
the effective interest method is presented in the consolidated income statement as interest income.
Dividends are included in dividend income when the Group’s right to receive the dividend payment
is established. All other elements of the changes in the fair value and gains or losses on
derecognition are recorded in profit or loss as gains less losses from trading securities in the period
in which they arise.
Deferred income tax is provided on post acquisition retained earnings of subsidiaries, except where
the Group controls the subsidiary’s dividend policy and it is probable that the difference will not
reverse through dividends or otherwise in the foreseeable future.
Inventories
Inventories are recorded at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of inventory is
determined on the weighted average basis. The cost of finished goods and work in progress
comprises raw material, direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads (based on
normal operating capacity) but excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the cost of completion and selling expenses.
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. A
provision for impairment of receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the
Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. The
amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The amount of the
provision is recognised in the income statement.
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Income taxes
Income taxes have been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with
Russian legislation enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. The income tax
charge comprises current tax and deferred tax and is recognised in the consolidated income
statement unless it relates to transactions that are recognised, in the same or a different period,
directly in equity.
Current tax is the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the taxation authorities in respect
of taxable profits or losses for the current and prior periods. Taxes, other than on income, are
recorded within operating expenses.
Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method for tax loss carry forwards
and temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes. In accordance with the initial recognition exemption,
deferred taxes are not recorded for temporary differences on initial recognition of an asset or a
liability in a transaction other than a business combination if the transaction, when initially recorded,
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are not recorded for temporary
differences on initial recognition of goodwill and subsequently for goodwill which is not deductible
for tax purposes. Deferred tax balances are measured at tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at
the balance sheet date which are expected to apply to the period when the temporary differences will
reverse or the tax loss carry forwards will be utilised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are netted
only within the individual companies of the Group. Deferred tax assets for deductible temporary
differences and tax loss carry forwards are recorded only to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the deductions can be utilised.
Deferred income tax is provided on post acquisition retained earnings of subsidiaries, except where
the Group controls the subsidiary’s dividend policy and it is probable that the difference will not
reverse through dividends or otherwise in the foreseeable future.
Uncertain tax positions
The Group's uncertain tax positions are reassessed by management at every balance sheet date.
Liabilities are recorded for income tax positions that are determined by management as more likely
than not to result in additional taxes being levied if the positions were to be challenged by the tax
authorities. The assessment is based on the interpretation of tax laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and any known Court or other rulings on such issues.
Liabilities for penalties, interest and taxes other than on income are recognised based on
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligations at the balance sheet
date.
Discontinued operations
A discontinued operation is a component of the Group that either has been disposed of, or that is
classified as held for sale, and: (a) represents a separate major line of business or geographical area
of operations; (b) is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business
or geographical area of operations; or (c) is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.
Earnings and cash flows of discontinued operations, if any, are disclosed separately from continuing
operations with comparatives being re-presented.
Share capital
Ordinary shares and non-redeemable preference shares with discretionary dividends are both
classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Any excess of the fair value of consideration
received over the par value of shares issued is presented in the notes as a share premium.
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Treasury shares
Where any Group company purchases the Company’s equity share capital, the consideration paid,
including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from equity
attributable to the Company’s equity holders until the shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of.
Where such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly
attributable incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is included in equity
attributable to the Company’s equity holders.
Dividends
Dividends are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity at the balance sheet date only if
they are declared before or on the balance sheet date. Dividends are disclosed when they are
proposed before the balance sheet date or proposed or declared after the balance sheet date but
before the financial statements are authorised for issue.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, and other shortterm highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. Cash and cash
equivalents are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Restricted balances are
excluded from cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the cashflow statement. Balances
restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the
balance sheet date are included in other non-current assets.
Due from banks
Amounts due from banks are recorded when the Group advances money to other state and
commercial banks with no intention of trading the resulting unquoted non-derivative receivable due
on fixed or determinable dates. Amounts due from banks are initially recognized at fair value plus
transaction costs and subsequently carried at amortised cost.
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Non-current assets classified as held for sale
Non-current assets and disposal groups (which may include both non-current and current assets) are
classified in the balance sheet as ‘Non-current assets held for sale’ if their carrying amount will be
recovered principally through a sale transaction within twelve months after the balance sheet date.
Assets are reclassified when all of the following conditions are met: (a) the assets are available for
immediate sale in their present condition; (b) the Group’s management approved and initiated an
active programme to locate a buyer; (c) the assets are actively marketed for a sale at a reasonable
price; (d) the sale is expected to occur within one year and (d) it is unlikely that significant changes
to the plan to sell will be made or that the plan will be withdrawn. Non-current assets or disposal
groups classified as held for sale in the current period’s balance sheet are not reclassified or represented in the comparative balance sheet to reflect the classification at the end of the current
period.
A disposal group is assets (current or non-current) to be disposed of, by sale or otherwise, together
as a group in a single transaction, and liabilities directly associated with those assets that will be
transferred in the transaction. Goodwill is included if the disposal group includes an operation
within a cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated on acquisition. Non-current
assets are assets that include amounts expected to be recovered or collected more than twelve
months after the balance sheet date. If reclassification is required, both the current and non-current
portions of an asset are reclassified.
Held for sale property, plant and equipment or disposal groups as a whole are measured at the lower
of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Held for sale property, plant and equipment
are not depreciated or amortised. Reclassified non-current financial instruments and deferred taxes
are not subject to the write down to the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell.
Liabilities directly associated with the disposal group that will be transferred in the disposal
transaction are reclassified and presented separately in the balance sheet.
Value added tax
Output value added tax related to sales is payable to tax authorities on the earlier of (a) collection of
the receivables from customers or (b) delivery of the goods or services to customers. Input VAT is
generally recoverable against output VAT upon receipt of the VAT invoice. The tax authorities
permit the settlement of VAT on a net basis. VAT related to sales and purchases is recognised in
the balance sheet on a gross basis and disclosed separately as an asset and liability. Where provision
has been made for impairment of receivables, impairment loss is recorded for the gross amount of
the debtor, including VAT.
Borrowings
Borrowings are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Borrowing costs are
recognised as an expense on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method. The Group
does not capitalise borrowing costs.
Due to other banks
Amounts due to other banks are recorded when money or other assets are advanced to the Group by
counterparty banks. The non-derivative liability is carried at amortised cost. If the Group purchases
its own debt, it is removed from the consolidated balance sheet and the difference between the
carrying amount of the liability and the consideration paid is included in gains or losses arising from
early retirement of debt.
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Customer accounts
Customer accounts are non-derivative liabilities to individuals, state or corporate customers and are
carried at amortised cost.
Trade and other payables
Trade payables are accrued when the counterparty performed its obligations under the contract and
are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Financial guarantees
Financial guarantees are contracts that requires the Group to make specified payments to reimburse
the holder of the guarantee for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantees are initially
recognised at their fair value, which is normally evidenced by the amount of fees received. This
amount is amortised on a straight line basis over the life of the guarantee. At each balance sheet
date, the guarantees are measured at the higher of (i) the unamortised balance of the amount at initial
recognition and (ii) the best estimate of expenditure required to settle the obligation at the balance
sheet date.
Foreign currency translation
Functional currency of each of the Group’s consolidated entities is the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates. The Company’s functional currency and the
Group’s presentation currency is the national currency of the Azerbaijan Republic, Azerbaijani
Manats (“AZN”).
Monetary assets and liabilities are translated into each entity’s functional currency at the official
exchange rate of the National Bank of Azerbaijan Republic (“NBAR”) at the respective balance
sheet dates. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of the transactions and
from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities into each entity’s functional currency at yearend official exchange rates of the NBAR are recognised in profit or loss. Translation at year-end
rates does not apply to non-monetary items, including equity investments. Effects of exchange rate
changes on the fair value of equity securities are recorded as part of the fair value gain or loss.
Provisions for liabilities and charges
Provisions for liabilities and charges are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, and it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Where there
are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the
likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may
be small.
Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually
certain.
The Group recognises the estimated liability to repair or replace products sold still under warranty at
the balance sheet date. This provision is calculated based on past history of the level of repairs and
replacements.
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Income and expense recognition
Revenues from sales of goods are recognised at the point of transfer of risks and rewards of
ownership of the goods, normally when the goods are shipped. If the Group agrees to transport
goods to a specified location, revenue is recognised when the goods are passed to the customer at
the destination point.
Sales of services are recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered, by
reference to stage of completion of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual service
provided as a proportion of the total services to be provided.
Sales are shown net of VAT and discounts.
Interest income and expense are recorded in the consolidated income statement for all debt
instruments on an accrual basis, using the effective interest method. This method defers, as part of
interest income or expense, all fees paid or received between the parties to the contract that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.
Fees integral to the effective interest rate include origination fees received or paid by the entity
relating to the creation or acquisition of a financial asset or issuance of a financial liability, for
example fees for evaluating creditworthiness, evaluating and recording guarantees or collateral,
negotiating the terms of the instrument and for processing transaction documents. Commitment fees
received by the Group to originate loans at market interest rates are integral to the effective interest
rate if it is probable that the Group will enter into a specific lending arrangement and does not
expect to sell the resulting loan shortly after origination. The Group does not designate loan
commitments as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
Revenues are measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. When the fair
value of goods received in a barter transaction cannot be measured reliably, the revenue is measured
at the fair value of the goods or service given up.
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.
Rates of exchange
The exchange rates at the year-end used by the Bank in the preparation of the financial statements
are as follows:
December 31,
2007
0.8453
1.2450
0.0346

AZN/1 US Dollar
AZN/1 Euro
AZN/RUR

December 31,
2006
0.8714
1.1329
0.0330

Research and development costs
Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs incurred on development
projects (relating to the design and testing of new or improved products) are recognised as intangible
assets when it is probable that the project will be a success considering its commercial and
technological feasibility, and costs can be measured reliably. Other development expenditures are
recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an expense are
not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period. Development costs with a finite useful life that
have been capitalised are amortised from the commencement of the commercial production of the
product on a straight-line basis over the period of its expected benefit, on average over 10 years.
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Employee benefits
Wages, salaries, contributions to the Azerbaijan State pension and social insurance funds, paid
annual leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits (such as health services and
kindergarten services) are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by the
employees of the Group.
Earnings per share
Preference shares, if any are not redeemable and are considered to be participating shares. Earnings
per share is determined by dividing the profit or loss attributable to equity holders of the Company
by the weighted average number of participating shares outstanding during the reporting year.
Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated balance
sheet only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and there is an
intention to either settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Segment reporting
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing products
or services (business segment) or in providing products or services within a particular economic
environment (geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from
those of other segments. Segments with a majority of revenue earned from sales to external
customers and whose revenue, result or assets are ten percent or more of all the segments are
reported separately. Geographical segments of the Group have not been reported separately within
these consolidated financial statements, on the basis that, a significant majority of the Group's
operations are carried out in the Republic of Azerbaijan and revenues from other segments are not
more than ten percent of total revenues earned by the Group.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

ESTIMATES,

AND

JUDGEMENTS

IN

APPLYING

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
management’s experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances. Management also makes certain judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, in the process of applying the accounting policies. Judgements that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements and estimates
that can cause a significant adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year include:
Estimated impairment of goodwill
The Group tests goodwill for impairment at least annually. The recoverable amounts of cashgenerating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations
require the use of estimates as further detailed in Note 3.
Impairment of available for-sale equity investments
The Group determines that available-for-sale equity investments are impaired when there has been a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost. The determination of what is
significant or prolonged requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates among
other factors, the volatility in share price. In addition, impairment may be appropriate when there is
evidence of a deterioration in the financial health of the investee, industry and sector performance,
changes in technology, and operating or financing cash flows.
Tax legislation
Tax, currency and customs legislation of Azerbaijan Republic is subject to varying interpretations.
Refer to Note 2.
Deferred income tax asset recognition
The net deferred tax asset represents income taxes recoverable through future deductions from
taxable profits and is recorded on the balance sheet. Deferred income tax assets are recorded to the
extent that realisation of the related tax benefit is probable. In determining future taxable profits and
the amount of tax benefits that are probable in the future Management makes judgements and
applies estimation based on last three years taxable profits and expectations of future income that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Initial recognition of related party transactions
In the normal course of business the Group enters into transactions with its related parties.
The IAS 39 requires initial recognition of financial instruments based on their fair values.
Judgement is applied in determining if transactions are priced at market or non-market interest rates,
where there is no active market for such transactions. The basis for judgement is pricing for similar
types of transactions with unrelated parties and effective interest rate analyses.
Held-to-maturity financial assets
Management applies judgement in assessing whether financial assets can be categorised as held-tomaturity, in particular its intention and ability to hold the assets to maturity. If the Group fails to
keep these investments to maturity other than for certain specific circumstances – for example,
selling an insignificant amount close to maturity – it will be required to reclassify the entire class as
available-for-sale. The investments would therefore be measured at fair value rather than amortised
cost.
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5.

ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
In the current year, the Bank has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the IASB) and the International Financial
Reporting Interpretations Committee (the IFRIC) of the IASB that are relevant to its operations and
effective for reporting periods beginning on January 1, 2007. The adoption of these new and revised
Standards and Interpretations has not resulted in significant changes to the Bank’s accounting
policies that have affected the amounts reported for the current or prior years except for the effect of
application of the IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosure” (“IFRS 7”).
The IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures and a complementary Amendment to the IAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements - Capital Disclosures (effective from January 1, 2007). The
IFRS 7 is effective for the annual period beginning on or after January 1, 2007. The IFRS 7
establishes new requirements and recommendations on financial instrument disclosure. Adoption of
the IFRS 7 did not affect the classification and measurement of Bank’s financial instruments in the
financial statements. Additional information was disclosed in the financials statements for the
current and comparative reporting periods as required by the IFRS 7.
The IFRS 8, Operating Segments. At the date of performing of these financial statements the
following Standards and Interpretations applicable to the Bank were issued but not yet effective for
these financial statements: Effective January 1, 2009, the new IFRS 8 “Operating Segments” will
replace the IAS 14 “Operating Segments”. The management is currently assessing the impact of the
adoption of these new and revised Standards in future period. The Bank anticipates that other new
Standards and Interpretations will have no material financial impact on the financial statements of
the Bank.
Other new standards or interpretations
The Group has adopted the following other new standards or interpretations, which became effective
from January 1, 2007:
• IFRIC 7, Applying the Restatement Approach under the IAS 29 (effective for periods beginning
on or after March 1, 2006);
• IFRIC 8, Scope of the IFRS 2 (effective for periods beginning on or after May 1, 2006);
• IFRIC 9, Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives (effective for annual periods beginning on or
after June 1, 2006); and
• IFRIC 10, Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment (effective for annual periods beginning
on or after November 1, 2006).
The new IFRIC interpretations 7 to 10 did not significantly affect the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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6.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
Certain new standards and interpretations have been published that are mandatory for the Group’s
accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008 or later periods and which the Group has
not early adopted:
The IFRS 8, Operating Segments (effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1,
2009). The standard applies to entities whose debt or equity instruments are traded in a public
market or that file, or are in the process of filing, their financial statements with a regulatory
organisation for the purpose of issuing any class of instruments in a public market. The IFRS 8
requires an entity to report financial and descriptive information about its operating segments and
specifies how an entity should report such information. The Group is currently assessing what
impact the standard will have on segment disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
Puttable financial instruments and obligations arising on liquidation the IAS 32 and the IAS 1
Amendment (effective from January 1, 2009). The amendment requires classification as equity of
some financial instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amendment on its consolidated financial statements.
The IAS 23, Borrowing Costs (revised March 2007; effective for annual periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2009). The revised IAS 23 was issued in March 2007. The main change to the IAS
23 is the removal of the option of immediately recognising as an expense borrowing costs that relate
to assets that take a substantial period of time to get ready for use or sale. An entity is, therefore,
required to capitalise such borrowing costs as part of the cost of the asset. The revised standard
applies prospectively to borrowing costs relating to qualifying assets, for which the commencement
date for capitalisation is on or after January 1, 2009. The Group is currently assessing the impact of
the amended standard on its consolidated financial statements.
The IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements (revised September 2007; effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009). The main change in the IAS 1 is the replacement
of the income statement by a statement of comprehensive income which will also include all nonowner changes in equity, such as the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets. Alternatively,
entities will be allowed to present two statements: a separate income statement and a statement of
comprehensive income. The revised IAS 1 also introduces a requirement to present a statement of
financial position (balance sheet) at the beginning of the earliest comparative period whenever the
entity restates comparatives due to reclassifications, changes in accounting policies, or corrections
of errors. The Group expects the revised IAS 1 to affect the presentation of its consolidated
financial statements, but to have no impact on the recognition or measurement of specific
transactions and balances.
The IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (revised January 2008; effective
for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2009). The revised IAS 27 will require an entity
to attribute total comprehensive income to the owners of the parent and to the non-controlling
interests (previously “minority interests”) even if this results in the non-controlling interests having
a deficit balance (the current standard requires the excess losses to be allocated to the owners of the
parent in most cases). The revised standard specifies that changes in a parent’s ownership interest in
a subsidiary that do not result in the loss of control must be accounted for as equity transactions. It
also specifies how an entity should measure any gain or loss arising on the loss of control of a
subsidiary. At the date when control is lost, any investment retained in the former subsidiary will
have to be measured at its fair value. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the amended
standard on its consolidated financial statements.
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Vesting Conditions and Cancellations—Amendment to the IFRS 2, Share-based Payment (issued
in January 2008; effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009). The
amendment clarifies that only service conditions and performance conditions are vesting conditions.
Other features of a share-based payment are not vesting conditions. The amendment specifies that
all cancellations, whether by the entity or by other parties, should receive the same accounting
treatment. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the amended standard on its consolidated
financial statements.
The IFRS 3, Business Combinations (revised January 2008; effective for business combinations
for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period
beginning on or after July 1, 2009). The revised IFRS 3 will allow entities to choose to measure
non-controlling interests using the existing IFRS 3 method (proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets) or at fair value. The revised IFRS 3 is more detailed in providing guidance
on the application of the purchase method to business combinations. The requirement to measure at
fair value every asset and liability at each step in a step acquisition for the purposes of calculating a
portion of goodwill has been removed. Instead, goodwill will be measured as the difference at
acquisition date between the fair value of any investment in the business held before the acquisition,
the consideration transferred and the net assets acquired. Acquisition-related costs will be accounted
for separately from the business combination and, therefore, recognised as expenses rather than
included in goodwill. An acquirer will have to recognise at the acquisition date a liability for any
contingent purchase consideration. Changes in the value of that liability after the acquisition date
will be recognised in accordance with the other applicable IFRSs, as appropriate, rather than by
adjusting goodwill. The revised IFRS 3 brings into its scope business combinations involving only
mutual entities and business combinations achieved by contract alone. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amended standard on its consolidated financial statements.
Other new standards or interpretations
The Group has not early adopted the following other new standards or interpretations:
• IFRIC 11, the IFRS 2 - Group and Treasury Share Transactions (effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 March 2007);
• IFRIC 12, Service Concession Arrangements (effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2008);
• IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programmes (effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 July 2008); or
• IFRIC 14, IAS 19—The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and
their Interaction (effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008).
Unless otherwise described above, the new standards and interpretations are not expected to
significantly affect the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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7.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
December 31,
2007

In Azerbaijani Manats
Balances with the National Bank of Azerbaijan Republic
Cash on hand
Term deposits with banks
Current bank accounts
Total cash and cash equivalents

December 31,
2006

8,623,141
7,013,141
2,781,638
603,631

5,831,310
2,671,894
1,146,734
1,164,076

19,021,551

10,814,014

Balances with NBA as at December 2007 and 2006 include AZN 7,263,350 and AZN 4,395,653,
respectively, which represent the minimum reserve deposits required by the NBA. The Group is
entitled to use all funds on its correspondent account provided that average daily balance for 15
days period will be eventually higher than required mandatory reserve.
Term deposits with Banks were placed in the local Banks in local currency as shown below in the
table:
In Azerbaijani Manats
Nikoil Bank OJSC Investment
Commercial Bank
Bank Respublika OJSCB
Bank Respublika OJSCB
AzeriGazBank OJSC
AzeriGazBank OJSC
AzeriGazBank OJSC
Bank of Baku OJSC
Azerdemiryolbank OJSC
Azerdemiryolbank OJSC
Royal Bank of Baku OSC
Para Bank OJSC

Interest rate,
%

December 31,
2007

Interest rate,
%

December 31,
2006

13

1,038,916

11

376,559

12.60
11
12
13
14
13
13
14

587,109
124,908
100,000
230,000
400,000
150,705
100,000
50,000

12
12
11
12
14
13
12
-

300,000
102,025
111,350
100,000
50,058
56,742
50,000
-

Total deposits with banks

2,781,638

1,146,734

As at December 2007 and 2006 the accrued interest income included in the term deposits with
Banks amounted to AZN 56,638 and AZN 21,734, respectively.
The geographical, currency and interest rate analyses of cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in
Note 36. The information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 41.
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8.

PREPAYMENTS AND DEFERRED EXPENSES
In Azerbaijani Manats
Reinsurer’s share of provision for unearned premium
Prepayments for premiums ceded to reinsurance
Prepayments made for direct insurance
Prepayments to suppliers
Deferred expenses
Reinsurer’s share of loss provision
Other prepayments
Total prepayments and deferred expenses

December 31,
2007

December 31,
2006

388,922
233,609
228,352
59,171
15,715
993
190,002

639,694
150,978
14,172
1,786
773,226

1,116,764

1,579,856

Prepayments to suppliers in amount of AZN 59,171 represents advance payment to “Uygunlar Dis
Ticaret” (Turkey) for purchase of 1 unit of excavator for leasing out to individual lessee (Salimov
Chingiz) which represents portion of down payment made by the lessee. The similar amount is also
accrued in advances received section to present liability towards the client.
The geographical, currency and interest rate analyses of cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in
Note 36. The information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 41.
9.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
December 31,
2007

In Azerbaijani Manats
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Allowance for bad debts
Total trade and other receivables

December 31,
2006

1,053,717
181,243
(415,997)

784,480
1,041,564
(185,430)

818,963

1,640,614

Analysis by sector of trade and other receivables are as following:
In Azerbaijani Manats

December 31,
2007

%

December 31,
2006

%

Public organisations
Finance
Service
Individuals
Communication
Embassies
Energy
Manufacturing
Other

154,259
149,334
125,890
77,911
43,954
30,408
28,483
9,840
198,884

18.85
18.23
15.37
9.51
5.37
3.71
3.48
1.20
24.28

39,523
377,996
278,886
228
9,005
934,976

2.41%
23.04%
17.00%
0.01%
0.55%
56.99%

Total trade and other
receivables

818,963

100%

1,640,614

100%

The geographical, currency and interest rate analyses of cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in
Note 36. The information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 41.
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10. INVENTORIES
December 31,
2007

December 31,
2006

Live stock
Equipment
Office supplies
Mixed fodder
Beverage store
Software
Food store
Chemicals
Miscellaneous

367,716
168,950
139,480
94,440
69,352
33,913
30,697
20,402
34,902

364,968
191,759
161,016
21,729
76,150
117,075
46,331
2,151
45,107

Total inventories

959,852

1,026,286

In Azerbaijani Manats

Live stock represents poultry for producing broiler meat and egg production in the broiler facilities of
the Group. Equipment consist of agricultural units intend for sale in internal market.
The geographical, currency and interest rate analyses of cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in
Note 36. The information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 41.
11. OTHER ASSETS
December 31,
2007

December 31,
2006

Settlements on money transfers and plastic cards
VAT receivable
Prepayments and receivables on other transactions
Deferred expenses on plastic cards
Prepayments for purchase of property, equipment and intangible assets

223,149
140,254
94,568
58,832
40,709

211,640
325,337
60,309
49,074
2,925,673

Total other assets

557,512

3,572,033

In Azerbaijani Manats

As at December 31, 2006 prepayments for the purchase of property, equipment and intangible
assets include AZN 2,883,637, which are prepayments for purchase of premises for new branches
of the Group in regions of Azerbaijan and new software for the Group.
The geographical, currency and interest rate analyses of cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in
Note 36. The information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 41.
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12. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES
The components of net investment in finance leases as of December 31, 2007 are as follows:
In Azerbaijani Manats
Total lease payments due from lessees
Less: unearned finance income
Net investment in finance leases
Current portion
Long-term portion
Net investment in finance leases

December 31,
2007

December 31,
2006

3,129,021
(591,997)

1,619,730
(306,771)

2,537,024

1,312,959

1,669,925
867,099

820,209
492,750

2,537,024

1,312,959

The minimum lease payments due from customers under finance leases as of December 31, 2007 are
as follows:
December 31,
2007

December 31,
2006

Not later than one year
Later than one year not later than five years

1,669,925
867,099

820,209
492,750

Total future minimum lease payments

2,537,024

1,312,959

As at December 31, 2007 the breakdown of the lease agreements by the sectors of activity of lessees
is presented below:
in the Azerbaijani Manats
Construction
Transportation
Private consumers
Production
Agriculture
Other
Total lease agreements

December 31,
2007

December 31,
2006

1,675,349
374,818
338,092
46,075
15,082
87,608

695,835
317,659
43,181
14,570
54,180
187,534

2, 537,024

1,312,959

The geographical, currency and interest rate analyses of cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in
Note 36. The information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 41.
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13. HELD TO MATURITY INVESTMENTS
December 31,
2007

December 31,
2006

Promissory notes of NBA
Promissory notes of other non – financial companies

15,148,783
25,230

3,005, 882
94,554

Total investment securities available for sale

15,174,013

3,100,436

In Azerbaijani Manats

As at December 2007 and 2006 the Bank had short-term notes of the NBA totalling AZN
15,148,783 and AZN 3,005,882 with the average interest to nominal of 11% and 13%, respectively.
As at December 2007 and 2006 accrued interest income included in these investments held to
maturity amounted to AZN 55,004 and AZN 4,475, respectively.
The geographical, currency and interest rate analyses of cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in
Note 36. The information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 41.
14. INVESTMENT SECURITIES AVAILABLE FOR SALE
Investments available for –sale - comprise equity securities:
In Azerbaijani Manats

Ownership
interest, %

Baku Stock Exchange
Millikart LTD
Less allowance for
impairment losses

December 31,
2007

Ownership
interest, %

December 31,
2006

5.55
10.00

60,000
400,000
460,000

5.55
10.00

60,000
400,000
460,000

-

(110,716)

-

-

Total investment securities
available for sale

349,284

460,000

The geographical, currency and interest rate analyses of cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in
Note 36. The information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 41.
15. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES
In Azerbaijani Manats

December 31,
2007

December 31,
2006

“Kapital Bank” OJSC

14,095,000

-

14,095,000

-

Total investment in associates

The Group has purchased 20% equity shares of former stated owned bank “Kapital Bank” OJSC on
June 27, 2007. This investment was represented in the financial statements as of December 31, 2007
at fair value where as 20% of the net assets (based on audited IFRS financial statements) of “Kapital
Bank” OJSC as at December 31, 2008 was AZN 70,474 thousand. The 480,000 ordinary shares of
the bank were purchased for the cash consideration of AZN 5,110,000, the difference, which is a
negative goodwill in amount of AZN 8,985 thousand has been released to the income statement.
The geographical, currency and interest rate analyses of cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in
Note 36. The information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 41.
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16. DUE FROM BANKS
December 31,
2007

December 31,
2006

Loans to Banks
Correspondent account with Banks
Restricted deposits

7,636,518
594,214
164,834

6,715,784
299,393
514,243

Total due from banks

8,395,566

7,529,420

In Azerbaijani Manats

As at December 2007 and 2006 accrued interest income included in due from banks amounted to
AZN 5,602 and AZN 4,142, respectively.
As at December 31, 2007 included in restricted deposits in collateral amounting to AZN 160,607
placed by the Group with National Westminster Bank Plc as a member of VISA International. As at
December 31, 2006 the Bank had restricted deposits under letters of credit totaling to AZN 514,243.
As at December 31, 2007 and 2006 the Group had term deposits in a local bank and in a foreign
bank totaling to AZN 2,000,000 and AZN 5,254,542, respectively.
As at December 31, 2007 and 2006 the maximum credit risk exposure of due from banks amounted
to AZN 8,395,566 and AZN 7,529,420, respectively.
As at December 31, 2006 the Group placed equivalent of AZN 871,400 in USD with one local bank,
which was received from the same bank as short –term loan in USD (Note 16).
The geographical, currency and interest rate analyses of cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in
Note 36. The information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 41.

17. LOANS TO CUSTOMERS
Loans to customers comprise:
December 31,
2007

December 31,
2006

Originated loans

63,429,757

35,553,697

Less: Provision for loan impairment

(1,860,560)

(1,010,465)

Total loans and advances to customers

61,569,197

34,543,232

In Azerbaijani Manats

38

“ATA HOLDING” OPEN JOINT STOCK COMPANY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

The table below summarizes the amount of loans secured by collateral, rather than their fair value of
collateral itself:
December 31,
2007

December 31,
2006

Loans collateralized by real estate
Loans collateralized by vehicles
Loans collateralized by corporate guarantees
Loans collateralized by securities
Loans collateralized by inventory
Loans collateralized by cash
Loans collateralized by precious metals
Loans collateralized by equipment
Loans collateralized by other collateral
Unsecured loans

29,234,425
15,416,563
9,427,579
2,278,335
1,617,288
829,269
558,462
378,157
148,390
1,680,729

12,130,724
7,666,031
5,283,228
3,172,837
1,221,885
289,676
150,239
200,858
158,746
4,269,008

Total loans and advances to customers

61,569,197

34,543,232

In Azerbaijani Manats

Analysis by industries is provided below:
In Azerbaijani Manats

December 31, 2007
Amount
%

December 31, 2006
Amount
%

Individuals
Trading
Manufacturing
Construction
Agriculture
Other

29,429,227
16,092,664
9,296,942
3,951,763
2,716,685
81,916

47.80
26.10
15.10
6.40
4.40
0.20

16,228,141
9,195,411
5,686,320
1,742,119
1,663,289
27,952

46.90
26.60
16.40
5.00
4.80
0.30

Total loans and advances to
customers

61,569,197

100%

34,543,232

100%

In Azerbaijani Manats

December 31,
2007

December 31,
2006

Car loans
Consumer loans
Mortgage loans
Entrepreneurship loans
Credit cards
Other

15,256,437
6,315,108
3,504,210
3,164,302
961,599
227,571

5,574,955
9,609,488
159,398
216,611
453,676
214,013

Total loans to individuals

29,429,227

16,228,141

Loans to individuals comprise the following products:

As at December 2007 and 2006 a maximum credit risk exposure on loan commitments and
overdrafts extended by the Group to its customers amounted to AZN 6,261,026 and AZN 1,396,665,
respectively.
The geographical, currency and interest rate analyses of cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in
Note 36. The information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 41.
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As at December 31, 2007 loans to customers included loans in amount of AZN 397,573 (2006: Nil),
whose terms have been renegotiated. Otherwise these loans would be past due or impaired.
As at December 31, 2007 and 2006 loans to customers included loans in amount of AZN 6,660, 544
and AZN 4,387,303, respectively, that were individually determined to be impaired. As at December
31, 2007 such loans were collateralized by real estate and equipment with a fair value of AZN
850,141 and AZN 148,413, respectively, and by corporate guarantees for outstanding loans
amounting to AZN 5,469,520. As at December 31, 2006 such loans were fully collateralised by
corporate guarantees.
The Group applied the portfolio provisioning methodology prescribed by the IAS 39, Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and created portfolio provisions for impairment losses
that were incurred, but have not been specifically identified with any individual loan by the balance
sheet date. The Group’s policy is to classify each loan as ”current and not impaired” until a specific
objective evidence of impairment of the loan is identified. The primary factors that the Group
considers whether a loan is impaired are its overdue status and reliability of related collateral, if any.
Current and not impaired, but renegotiated loans represent the carrying amount of loans that would
otherwise be past due or impaired whose terms have been renegotiated. Past due, but not impaired
loans represent collateralised loans where the fair value of collateral covers the overdue interest and
principal repayments. The amount reported as past due, but not impaired is the whole balance of
such loans, not only the individual installments that are past due.
As at December 31, 2007, total value of collateral was AZN 60,655,468 (2006: AZN 30,843,593).
The geographical, currency and interest rate analyses of cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in
Note 36. The information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 41.
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18. FIXED AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At cost
December
31,2005
Additions
Transfer
Dixsposal
December
31,2006
Additions
Transfers
Disposal
December
31,2007

Land

Buildings

10,693

15,805,565

-

10,693
-

10,693

2,279,850
63,581
(1,255,513)

16,893,483
3,430,030
(8,696)

20,314,817

Computers and
communication
equipment

2,104,968
961,918
(231,834)

2,835,052
303,710
5,955
(7,549)

3,137,168

Vehicles

1,189,785
78,571
(7,558)

1,260,798
123,311
(7,067)

1,377,042

Furniture
and
equipment

Leasehold
improvement

6,709,484

39,740

1,268,284
-

109,588
-

7,977,768

149,328 1,147,722
16,100
(65,640)

999,207
(425,355)

8,551,620
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Other
fixed
assets

Construction in
progress

Intangible
assets

375,528

63,581

149,057

26,448,401

909,385
(137,191)

(63,581)
-

740,305
(14,715)

6,347,901
(1,646,811)

-

874,647

31,149,491

-

158,790
(4,000)

161,074
(5,955)
(204)

99,788 1,302,637

-

1,029,437

Total

5,192,222
(518,511)

35,823,202
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Land

Buildings

Computers
Vehicles Furniture Leasehold
Other
Construcand
and
improve- fixed assets
tion in
communicatio
equipment
ment
progress
n equipment

Intangible
assets

Total

Accumulated
depreciation
December 31,
2005

-

1,362,652

500,892

340,890

995,406

9,273

70,580

-

32,298

3,311,991

655,091
358

269,887
50

1,331,456
-

11,467
1,324

178,675
(408)

-

74,672
-

3,255,488
-

-

-

(19,580)

-

(14,715)

Charge for the
year
Transfers
Eliminated on
disposals

-

734,240
(1,324)

-

(20,661)

December 31,
2006

-

2,074,907

1,152,619

608,308

2,326,862

22,064

229,267

-

92,255

6,506,282

-

828,706
-

709,891
3,028

270,231
-

1,493,095
-

18,079
-

271,875
(3,028)

-

102,083
-

3,693,960
-

-

(67)

(154)

(6,128)

(57,820)

(2,747)

120

-

-

2,903,546

1,865,384

872,411

3,762,137

37,396

498,234

-

190,336 10,129,444

December 31,
2006

10,693 14,818,576

1,682,433

652,490

5,650,906

127,264

918,455

-

782,392 24,643,209

December 31,
2007

10,693 17,411,271

1,271,784

504,631

4,789,483

62,392

804,403

-

839,101 25,693,758

Charge for the
year
Transfers
Eliminated on
disposals
December 31,
2007

(3,722)

(2,519)

(4,002)

(61,197)

(70,798)

Net book value
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19. NON CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
As at December 31, 2007 and 2006, non current assets held for sale amounted to AZN 2,646,079 and
AZN 351,135, respectively. As at December 31, 2007, non-current assets held for sale consists of
the buildings (guest houses) in amount of AZN 2,560,693 and other related to this assets in amount
of AZN 85,386, respectively located in Shemkir region of Azerbaijan Republic (2006 : buildings
(guest houses) AZN 351,135).
The geographical, currency and interest rate analyses of cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in
Note 36. The information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 41.

20. PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES
Provisions for liabilities and charges comprise of the following:
Year ended
December 31,
2007

In Azerbaijani Manats

Year ended
December 31,
2006

Provision for unearned premiums
Loss provision for outstanding claims
Provision for losses on contingent liabilities

2,608,419
88,062
54,682

1,618,189
50,963
62,396

Total provisions for operating activities

2,751,163

1,731,548

The movements in allowance for impairment losses were as follows:
Provision for
unearned revenues

Loss provision for
outstanding
claims

Guarantees and
other
Commit-ments

December 31, 2005
Provision
December 31,2006
Provision
Write-off asset
Provision (recovery of
provision)

854,157
764,032
1,618,189
990,230
-

54,672
(3,709)
50,963
37,099
-

62,396
62,396
-

908,829
822,719
1,731,548
1,027,329
-

-

-

(7,714)

(7,714)

December 31,2007

2,608,419

88,062

54,682

2,751,163

In Azerbaijani Manats
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The movements in provision for doubtful receivables and loans were as follows:
Loans to
customers

Available
Guarantees
for sale
and other
investments Commitments

Provision
for
unearned
revenues

In Azerbaijani Manats

Loss
provision
for
outstanding
claims

Trade and
other
receivables

Total

December 31, 2005
Provision
December 31,2006
Provision
Provision (recovery of
provision)

942,968
67,497
1,010,465
856,424

-

62,396
62,396
-

390,015
588,480
978,495
1,241,002

31,553
17,624
49,177
37,892

165,432
165,432
277,896

1,364,536
901,429
2,265,965
2,413,214

-

110,716

(7,714)

-

-

-

103,002

December 31,2007

1,866,889

110,716

54,682

2,219,497

87,069

443,328

4,782,181

The provisions for loans to customers, available for investments and trade and other receivables are
included in these items’ carrying amounts and are presented in Notes 17, 14 and 9 respectively.
The geographical, currency and interest rate analyses of cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in
Note 36. The information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 41.
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21. RECEIVED ADVANCES AND DEFERRED REVENUE
In Azerbaijani Manats
Deferred commission income from outward reinsurance
Other
Received advances
Deferred revenue
Total trade and other payables

December 31,
2007

December 31,
2006

204,837
110,571
-

169,960
87,711
325,763
297

315,408

583,731

The geographical, currency and interest rate analyses of cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in
Note 36. The information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 41.

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
In Azerbaijani Manats
Trade payables
Other payables
Total trade and other payables

December 31,
2007

December 31,
2006

1,351,672
542,545

1,481,089
176,256

1,894,217

1,657,345

Analysis of the trade payables by sectors are as following:
December 31,
2007

%

December 31,
2006

%

Service
Finance
Government organizations
Individuals
Communication
Manufacturing
Other

834,806
526,792
191,738
129,858
38,050
13,892
159,081

44.07
27.81
10.12
6.86
2.01
0.73
8.40

1,227,745
68,479
117,086
1,978
64,791
2,059
175,207

74.10
4.10
7.10
0.10
3.90
0.10
10.60

Total trade and other
payables

1,894,217

100%

1,657,345

100%

The geographical, currency and interest rate analyses of cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in
Note 36. The information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 41.
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23. CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS
Customer accounts comprise:
December 31,
2007

December 31,
2006

Time deposits
Repayable on demand

61,241,961
19,695,227

26,096,965
13,265,670

Total customer accounts

80,937,188

39,362,635

In Azerbaijani Manats

As at December 31, 2007 and 2006 accrued interest expense included in customer accounts
amounted to AZN 697,574 and 336,395, respectively.
As at December 31, 2007 and 2006 customer accounts amounted to AZN 309,325 and AZN 509,886
respectively, were held as security against letters of credit issued and other transaction related
contingent obligations. As at December 31, 2006 customer accounts amounted to AZN 6,933 were
held as a security against guarantees issued.
As at December 31, 2007 and 2006 customer accounts amounting to AZN 25,233,177 and AZN
10,641,443 were due to 15 and 11 customers representing a significant concentration, being
approximately 31% and 27 % respectively, of total balance of customer accounts.
Economic sector concentrations within customer accounts are as follows:
In Azerbaijani Manats

December 31, 2007
Amount
%

Individuals
Trading
Construction
Energy
Manufacturing
Transport and
Agriculture
Insurance
Other

50,717,813
11,690,544
9,088,051
5,878,651
1,018,021
670,299
273,330
127,731
1,472,748

62.6
14.4
11.2
7.3
1.3
0.8
0.3
0.2
1.9

24,051,981
6,832,765
1,623,618
2,819,935
824,218
1,640,527
443,104
285,767
840,720

61.1
17.4
4.1
7.2
2.1
4.2
1.1
0.7
2.1

80,937,188

100.0

39,362,635

100.0

Total customer accounts

December 31, 2006
Amount
%

The geographical, currency and interest rate analysis of customer accounts is disclosed in Note 36.
The information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 41.
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24. DUE TO BANKS
In Azerbaijani Manats
Time deposits and loans from Banks
Accounts of other banks in Ata Bank OJSC
Loan from the NBA
Total due to banks

December 31,
2007

December 31,
2006

200,180
8,910
-

2,930,000
879,322
2,000,000

209,090

5,809,322

As at December 31, 2007 and 2006 accrued interest expense included in due to banks amounted to
AZN 180 and AZN 1,089, respectively.
As at December 31, 2006 included in due to banks is the loan from the NBA amounting to AZN
2,000,000. As at December 31, 2006 the loan had 1 year maturity and bears an annual interest rate of
9.5%.
The carrying value of each class of due to other banks approximates fair value at December 31, 2007
and December 31, 2006. At December 31, 2007, the estimated fair value of due to other banks was
AZN 147,309 thousand (2006: AZN 173,380 thousand). Refer to Note 39.
The geographical, currency and interest rate analysis of customer accounts is disclosed in Note 36.
The information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 41.
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25. BORROWINGS
In the Azerbaijani Manats
Long term borrowings
Term borrowings from government organisations:
- National Fund for Support of Entrepreneurship (the Republic of
Azerbaijan)
- - National Mortgage Fund
Term borrowings from the Banks:
- “Bank Standard” OJSC
- “AG Bank “OJSC
Corporate Bonds

Total long term borrowings
Short term borrowings
Individuals
“Unibank” OJSC
“Rabita Bank” OJSC
“Cyber Soft” Turkey
“Nikoil” OJSC Investment Bank
“AG” Bank
“Bank Standard” OJSC
“Azert Turk Bank” OJSC
Total short term borrowings
Total borrowings

December 31,
2007

December 31,
2006

8,903,388
3,411,439

7,365,387
43,748

12,314,827

7,409,135

2,624,642
2,412

2,931,761
4,821

211,465

155,545

2,838,519

3,092,127

15,153,346

10,501,262

465,358
338,120
253,590
158,377
125,476
83,392
-

21,575
309,477
130,710
86,446
50,000
33,800

1,424,313

632,008

16,577,659

11,133,270

As at December 31, 2007 and 2006 included in due to government and other credit institutions are
loans from the National Fund for Support of Entrepreneurship amounting to AZN 8,903,388 and
AZN 7,365,387, respectively. These loans have maturity periods from 1 year to 5 years and bear an
annual interest rate of 1-2%.
As at December 31, 2007 and 2006 included in due to government and other credit institutions are
loans from the National Mortgage Fund amounting to AZN 8,903,388 and AZN 7,365,387
respectively. These loans have maturity periods from 1 year to 25 years and bear an annual interest
rate of 2%.
Loans obtained from the “Bank Standard” OJSC as at December 31, 2007 in the amount of AZN
2,624,642 includes loans with the interest rates of 18% for the AZN 26,740 and 7% for the AZN
2,597,902 (2006: interest rate 18% for the 261,420 and 7% for the 2,667,902).
Corporate bonds represent the fixed interest rate securities denominated in United States dollars
issued by the Company and placed to public through Baku Stock Exchange.
The borrowings from individuals represent short term finances provided by private individuals Sait
Otegen in amount of AZN 190,193 and Ashraf Kamilov (related party of the parent company) AZN
253,590 with annual interest rate of 18.89 per annum.
The geographical, currency and interest rate analysis of customer accounts is disclosed in Note 36.
The information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 41.
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26. SHARE CAPITAL
Authorized
share capital

In Azerbaijani Manats
At December 31, 2005
New shares paid-in
At December 31, 2006
New shares paid-in
At December 31, 2007

Paid in share
capital

60,000,000

37,595,340

-

-

60,000,000

37,595,340

-

10,334,896

60,000,000

47,930,236

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006 the Groups shareholder’s paid – in capital amounted to AZN
47,930,236 and AZN 37,595,340, respectively and comprised 2,396,512 and 1,879,767 ordinary
shares with the par value of AZN 20, respectively. Each share entitles to the shareholder one vote.
As of December 31, 2007 the Group’s control has been transferred to “Hughson Management Inc.”
which owned 51% of the parent companies’ nominal share capital (2006: “Colton Enterprises S.A”,
51%). Effectively, after elimination of the subsidiaries’ investment in parent company against the
equity investments of the parent in these subsidiaries the effective controlling share in substance
differs from the formal structure of the share capital. Thus, investment of “Hughson Management
Inc.” in amount of AZN 28,500 thousand effectively translates into 59.46% control of the share
capital (2006: AZN 24,813 thousand into 66%).
The information regarding the ultimate controlling party of the Group is provided in Note 1.
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27. REVENUE
Year ended
December 31,
2007

In Azerbaijani Manats
Interest income from loans to customers
Sales of hospitality services
Insurance and reinsurance income
Fee and commission income
Sales of agricultural products
Finance lease income
Sales of intellectual property
Other revenue
Total revenue

Year ended
December 31,
2006

11,179,793
4,373,979
4,175,447
3,606,093
2,099,995
660,461
451,113
22,746

5,411,033
2,790,552
3,129,786
1,816,383
1,293,774
307,073
251,838
225,955

26,569,627

15,226,394

As at December 31, 2007 included in sales of hospitality services is AZN 2,025 thousand from
revenue of renting the hotel rooms to customers (2006: 1,176 thousand), AZN 1,239 thousand from
sales of food and beverages (2006: 756 thousand ) and 797 thousand from sales of wellness services
(2006: 613 thousand).
Insurance revenue represents the income that Group has received from sales of the insurance related
services from third parties. Included in insurance revenue AZN 4,181 thousand is gross earnings
from the premiums written (2006: 3,074 thousand).
Included in fee and commission income as at December 31, 2007 is AZN 3,379 thousand
representing the banking services provided to third parties (2006; 1,661 thousand) and currency
exchange operations in amount AZN 227 thousand (2006: 156 thousand).
Sales of agricultural products mainly represents the sales of the livestock (broiler chickens and eggs)
in amount of AZN 1,951 thousand (2006: 1,124 thousand) and remainder represents agricultural
machinery and services provided to the third parties.
As at December 31, 2007 sales of intellectual property mainly represents the income received from
information and software sales unit of the Group, while as at December 31, 2006 the revenue in this
line mainly represents sales of professional services from the audit services unit of the Group which
has been subsequently disposed of in 2007.
For information on related party transactions, see Note 41.
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28. COST OF SALES
Year ended
December 31,
2007

In Azerbaijani Manats
Cost of interest expense
Cost of the eggs
Cost of premium ceded
Cost of food and beverage
Cost of gross claims paid
Cost of fee and commission expense
Cost of agent commission
Cost of other good sold
Cost of wellness center
Cost of the services
Cost of the raw material
Cost of the rooms
Cost of the rented cards
Cost of the tel, fax, internet
Total cost of goods and services sold

Year ended
December 31,
2006

5,684,354
1,430,372
1,143,676
1,015,539
648,304
577,442
476,354
340,643
139,953
70,616
63,372
96,068
32,062
19,858

2,784,327
691,252
1,373,956
1,651,989
431,612
350,954
72,392
196,494
224,440
52,140
73,141
-

11,738,613

7,902,697

For information on related party transactions, see Note 41.

29. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Year ended
December 31,
2007

In Azerbaijani Manats
Staff costs
Advertising and marketing services
Utilities expenses
Communication expenses
Rent expenses
Maintenance of premises and equipment
Charity and financial aid
Stationery, books, printing and other supplies
Professional services
Transportation and business travel expenses
Staff trainings, financial assistance and meal expenses
Security expenses
Insurance expenses
Membership expenses
Entertainment expenses
Other expenses
Total general and administrative expenses

For information on related party transactions, see Note 41.
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Year ended
December 31,
2006

3,850,144
401,793
310,642
285,129
270,945
227,391
433,600
198,876
197,904
180,331
123,052
118,378
113,493
48,177
32,980
275,289

3,802,621
385,066
339,370
273,614
336,619
182,260
75,000
225,646
289,819
157,571
101,981
129,633
120,144
18,147
48,177
128,297

7,068,124

6,613,965

“ATA HOLDING” OPEN JOINT STOCK COMPANY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

30. NON OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES
Non Operating Income and Expenses comprise of the following:
Year ended
December 31,
2007

Year ended
December 31,
2006

8,985,000
1,909,500
305,760
22,994
16,423
9,000
7,077

81,570
23,119
20,553
2,209

11,255,754

127,451

Interest Expenses
Dividends paid
Other

(370,263)
(116,293)
(4,734)

(335,365)
(1,710)

Total non operating expenses

(491,290)

(337,075)

10,764,464

(209,624)

In Azerbaijani Manats
Negative goodwill from the purchase of the associate
Funds contribution by shareholder
Interest income
Rent Income
Unrealised foreign exchange gain/(loss)
Dividend income
Other
Total non operating income

Total non operating income and expenses, net

During 2007, the shareholder of the Company, “FM Management” has granted money to the
Company to support its operations and provide liquidity in amount of AZN 1,909,500. The funds
have been transferred to the bank account of the Company. This injection has been recognized as
other income in the profit and loss statement of the Company and resulted in net profit for the year
ended December 31, 2007.
For information on related party transactions, see Note 41.

31. EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to equity holders of
the Bank by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, excluding
treasury shares.
The Group has no dilutive potential ordinary shares; therefore, the diluted earnings per share equal
the basic earnings per share.
Year ended
December 31,
2007

In Azerbaijani Manats

Year ended
December 31,
2006

Profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders

8,379,828

(4,721,036)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands)

2,396,512

1,879,767

3.49

(2.51)

Basic and diluted earnings per ordinary share (expressed in
AZN per share)
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32. DIVIDENDS
As at December 31, 2007 and 2006 Group declared dividends in the amount of AZN 552,851 and
AZN 260,000, respectively.

33. INCOME TAXES
The Group provides for taxes based on the statutory tax accounts maintained and prepared in
accordance with the Azerbaijan statutory tax regulations that differ from International Financial
Reporting Standards.
The Group is subject to certain permanent tax differences due to non – tax deductibility of certain
expenses.
Deferred taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
the assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for tax purposes.
Temporary differences as at December 31, 2007 and 2006 relate mostly to different methods of
income and expenses recognition as well as to recorded values of certain assets.
Income tax expense comprises the following:

Current income tax expense
Deferred income tax expense/(benefit)
Share in income tax expense of associate

Year Ended
December 31,,
2007
975,758
1,925,793
4,652

Year Ended
December 31,,
2006
251,660
(187,753)
1,544

2,906,203

65,451

Income tax expense for the year

The income tax rate applicable to the whole Group’s income is 22% at December 2007 (2006: 22%).
Temporary differences as at December 31, 2007 and 2006 comprise:

Year ended
December 31,
2007

In Azerbaijani Manats

Year ended
December 31,
2006

The IFRS profit before tax

8,379,828

(4,721,036)

Theoretical tax charge at statutory rate (2007: 22%; 2006: 22%)

1,843,562

-

Tax effect of income not included in tax calculations
Non deductible expenses
Unrecognised deferred tax asset for non-recoverable tax losses

(1,541,760)
678,608
1,925,793

253,294
(187,843)

2,906,203

65,541

Income tax expense for the year
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Differences between the IFRS and Azerbaijani statutory taxation regulations give rise to temporary
differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
their tax bases. The tax effect of the movements in these temporary differences is detailed below and
is recorded at the rate of 22% (2006: 22%):
December 31,
2006
In Azerbaijani Manats
Tax effect of deductible/(taxable) temporary
differences
Loan to customers
Investments in associates
Investments available for sale
Other liabilities
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Due from banks
Provision for losses on guarantees
Trade receivables
Low value items
Payables
Provision for unearned premiums
Deferred revenue
Receivables
Reinshure's share of loss provision
Investments held to maturity
Inventory
Reinsurer’ share of unearned premium
Loss provision
Prepayments
Bank deposits
Reinsurer’ share of loss provision

Charged/
(credited) to
profit or loss

December 31,
2007

26,598
5,280
19,717
(1,452)
30,382
112,555
193,334
10,853
10,412
1,917
337
(140,732)
(57,471)
(33,215)
(2,813)
-

10,015
(1,977,000)
24,358
16,173
(36,366)
(685)
(23,519)
(35,187)
58,242
36,102
2,895
40,839
43,285
(60,187)
(1,917)
(337)
549
55,169
(65,568)
(15,248)
2,813
(219)

36,613
(1,977,000)
24,358
21,453
(16,649)
(2,137)
(23,519)
(35,187)
88,624
148,657
2,895
234,173
54,138
(49,775)
549
(85,563)
(123,039)
(48,463)
(219)

175,702

(1,925,793)

(1,750,091)

Recognised deferred tax asset/(liability)

In the context of the Group’s current structure and applicable tax legislation, tax losses and current
tax assets of different group companies may not be offset against current tax liabilities and taxable
profits of other group companies and, accordingly, taxes may accrue even where there is a
consolidated tax loss. Therefore, deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when they relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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2005
In Azerbaijani Manats
Tax effect of deductible/(taxable) temporary
differences
Loan to customers
Other liabilities
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Due from banks
Investments in associates
Trade receivables
Low value items
Provision for unearned premiums
Deferred revenue
Receivables
Reinshure's share of loss provision
Investments held to maturity
Inventory
Reinsurer’ share of unearned premium
Loss provision
Prepayments
Bank deposits
Reinsurer’ share of loss provision
Recognised deferred tax asset/ (liability)

Charged/
(credited) to
profit or loss

December 31,
2006

(2,375)
(920)
2,076
(4,112)
(3,226)
122,513
11,179
4,160
92
(102,111)
(19,556)
(14,685)
(5,086)

26,598
7,655
20,637
(3,528)
4,112
3,226
30,382
112,555
70,821
(326)
6,252
1,917
337
(92)
(38,621)
(37,915)
(18,530)
(2,813)
5,086

26,598
5,280
19,717
(1,452)
30,382
112,555
193,334
10,853
10,412
1,917
337
(140,732)
(57,471)
(33,215)
(2,813)
-

(12,051)

187,753

175,702

The composition of the total net deferred tax liability of the Group after offsetting within the
individual entities comprising the Group is, as follows:
Year ended
December 31,
2007

In Azerbaijani Manats
Total net deferred tax asset
Total net deferred tax liability
Total net deferred tax assetliab/(liability) of the Group

Year ended
December 31,
2006

249,035
(1,999,126)

182,510
(6,808)

1,750,091

175,702

Management expect the entities within the Group which have tax losses to have future taxable profits
in order to be able to utilise the tax losses carried forward of AZN 4,721,036. In accordance with the
tax legislation of the country, where those entities are domiciled in, business and capital losses may
be carried forward for up to 5 years.
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34. OTHER TAX EXPENSES
Other tax expenses comprise of the following:
Year ended
December 31,
2007

In Azerbaijani Manats

Year ended
December 31,
2006

Social and taxes
Customs taxes
Other

661,557
43,433
33,660

681,782
10,102
24,148

Total other tax expenses

738,650

716,032

For information on related party transactions, see Note 41.

35. SEGMENT ANALYSIS
The Group is organized on a basis of two main business segments:
• Financial Segment – representing private banking services, private customer current accounts,
savings, deposits, investment savings products, custody, credit and debit cards, insurance and
leasing services, consumer loans and mortgages; and
• Non-financial Segment – representing direct debit facilities, current accounts, deposits, overdrafts,
loan and other credit facilities, insurance services and foreign currency products.
There are no material items of income or expense between the business segments. Segment assets
and liabilities comprise operating assets and liabilities, being the majority of the consolidated
balances sheet, but excluding taxation.
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Segment information for the main reportable business segments of the Group for the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006 is set out below:

In Azerbaijani Manats

Financial Segment
2007
2006

Non-financial Segment
2007
2006

Total
2007

2006

External revenues
Revenues from internal
segments

19,271,448

10,407,249

7,298,179

4,819,145

26,569,627

15,226,394

223,951

252,199

967,820

1,087,442

1,191,771

1,339,641

Total revenues

19,495,399

10,659,448

8,265,999

5,906,587

27,761,398

16,566,035

11,179,793
-

5,411,033
-

4,373,979

2,790,552

11,179,793
4,373,979

5,411,033
2,790,552

4,175,447

3,129,786

-

-

4,175,447

3,129,786

3,606,093

1,816,383

-

-

3,606,093

1,816,383

-

-

2,099,995

1,293,774

2,099,995

1,293,774

660,461

307,073

-

-

660,461

307,073

451,113

251,838

-

-

451,113

251,838

22,746

225,955

-

-

22,746

225,955

20,095,653

11,142,068

6,473,974

4,084,326

26,569,627

15,226,394

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

4,149,210
(1,053,510)

915,517
(184,282)

(1,848,179)
124,307

(5,571,102)
118,831

2,301,031
(929,203)

(4,655,585)
(65,451)

Profit for the year

3,095,700

731,235

(1,723,872)

(5,452,271)

1,371,828

(4,721,036)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(797,612)
(2,238,320)

(574,096)
(735,997)

(2,838,579)
(277,896)

(2,681,392)
(165,432)

(3,636,191)
(2,516,216)

(3,255,488)
(901,429)

105,391,110

59,283,703

6,517,015

3,191,307

111,908,125

62,475,011

5,110,000

-

-

-

5,110,000

-

1,013,508

183,346

(84,305)

(117,895)

929,203

65,451

417,258

3,249,697

140,254

322,336

557,512

3,572,033

7,418,791

4,437,893

18,274,967

20,205,317

25,693,758

24,643,209

Total assets

119,350,667

67,154,639

24,847,931

23,601,065

144,198,598

90,755,704

Total segment liabilities

101,563,990

55,458,666

1,102,412

4,827,073

102,666,402

60,285,739

Current and deferred tax
liability
Total liabilities

18,259
101,582,249

675,029
56,133,695

995,841
2,098,253

331,183
5,158,256

1,014,100
103,680,502

1,006,212
61,291,951

Total revenues comprise:
Interest income from loans
to customer
Sales of hospitality services
Insurance and reinsurance
income
Fee and commission
income
Sales of agricultural
products
Finance lease income
Sales of intellectual
property
Other revenue
Total revenues
Segment result

Other segment items
Capital expenditure
Depreciation and
amortisation expense
Other non-cash expenses
Total segment assets
Investments in associates
Current and deferred tax
assets
Other unallocated assets:
- Other assets
- Fixed and intangible
assets
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Geographical segments
The Group’s operations outside of Republic of Azerbaijan are not considered significant and do not
meet the definition of separately reportable segments.

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group has exposure to financial risks which include credit, liquidity, market and operational
risks. The taking of risk is integral to the Group’s business. The Group’s risk management function’s
aim is to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance.
The risk management framework
The risk management function is an integral part of the Group’s internal control system and is
centralised. The Group’s risk management policies and approaches aim to identify, analyse, mitigate
and manage the risks faced by the Group. This is accomplished through setting appropriate risk
limits and controls, continuously monitoring risk levels and the adherence to limits and procedures
and ensuring that business processes are correctly formulated and maintained.
Risk Management policies and procedures are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market
conditions, products and services offered and to ensure that “best practices” are implemented. The
Group, as part of its risk culture, emphasises integrity, management and employee standards in order
to maintain and continuously improve upon a conservative control environment.
Risk management bodies and governance
Risk management policy, assessment, approval, monitoring and controls are conducted by a number
of specialised bodies within the Group. These bodies also oversee the risk management policies and
controls at the Group’s subsidiaries. The Group has established executive bodies, committees and
departments, which conform to Azerbaijani law, the NBAR regulations and the best industry
practices.
The Supervisory Board of the Group has overall responsibility for the oversight of the risk
management framework, overseeing the management of key risks and reviewing and approving risk
management policies as well as several key risk limit approval authorities, including significantly
large exposures, economic and product sector limits. It also delegates certain authority levels to the
Executive Board and the Credit Committee.
Established by, appointed by and reporting directly to the Supervisory Board are the Executive
Board, the Risk Management Committee, the Audit Committee (“AC”), the Internal Audit
Department, the Credit Committee and the Asset and Liability Committee (“ALCO”).
The Executive Board is responsible for the implementation and monitoring of risk mitigation
measures and ensuring that the Group operates within the established risk parameters. The Member
of the Executive Board responsible for risk management along with the Risk Management
Department, which reports to this Director, are responsible for the overall risk management
functions, ensuring the implementation of common principles and methods for identifying,
measuring, mitigating, managing and reporting both financial and non-financial risks.
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The Risk Management Committee is chaired by the Member of the Executive Board responsible for
risk management. This Committee is responsible for establishing risk management methodologies
and ensuring that the risk appetite of the Group is correctly reflected in the strategic and business
plans of the Group. It is the main forum for discussing and recommending changes in all risk
approaches and procedures to the Executive and Supervisory Boards. It ensures that the Risk
Management Department, the Credit Committee and ALCO, as well as the Executive Board, address
all potential risks facing the Group and reports on these issues to the Supervisory Board.
The Audit Committee (“AC”) is responsible for overseeing and monitoring the internal control
framework of the Group and for assessing the adequacy of risk management policies and procedures,
as an integral part of the internal control system of the Group. The Chairman of the AC, an
independent professional auditor, and the other two Committee members are representatives of two
of the shareholders. The AC members cannot be employees or part of the management structure of
the Group. They provide recommendations to the Executive Board, the Risk Management
Committee and the Supervisory Board on development of the framework, as well as their views on,
the quality of risk management and compliance with established policies, procedures and limits. The
AC supervises the work of the Internal Audit, which reports directly to the AC. The Internal Audit’s
working plans, schedule of audits and its reports, including non-planned audits, are closely reviewed
and approved by the AC. Implementation plans based on Internal Audit’s and the AC’s
recommendations, including status reports, are approved by the Executive Board and reported to the
Executive Board, the Supervisory Board and the General Meeting of the Shareholders.
ALCO is responsible for the management and optimisation of the Group’s asset and liability
structure. It is an integral part of the risk management process that focuses on various market risks,
including liquidity, foreign currency and interest rate risks. ALCO’s functions include making
recommendations for approval of strategies, policies and limits associated with the aforementioned
risks. It is responsible for providing timely and reliable information and reports regarding these risk
areas. ALCO assists in setting pricing policies and funding strategies. It is also responsible, along
with other risk management and controlling units of the Group, for ensuring that Treasury and other
relevant units work with the parameters set by ALCO, the Risk Management Committee, the
Executive Board and the Supervisory Board.
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Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty fails to meet its
contractual obligations when due. The major portion of credit risk arises from the Groups’ loans and
advances to customers and banks and other on and off balance sheet credit exposures. For risk
reporting purposes, the Group considers and consolidates all elements of credit risk exposures such
as individual customer and counterparty default risk and industry risk. At present, the credit risk
arising from securities markets operations is Azerbaijani government bonds, the notes issued by the
NBAR, and held-to-maturity investment securities purchased from foreign financial institutions.
These securities are used exclusively to help manage the liquidity position of the Group.
The Supervisory Board also approves general limits so as to control and manage risk diversification:
•
•
•

Portfolio limits: Corporate loans, retail loans and interbank exposures as percentages of the
total portfolio;
Portfolio limits: Secured facilities and unsecured facilities as percentages of the total portfolios
and as a percentage of the retail portfolio; and
Economic sector and product exposures: as a percentage of the corporate and retail portfolios.

The Executive Board also approves limits and authority levels for exposures, as follows:
•
•
•

By branch;
By collateral type and loan to value ratios; and
By individual authority.

As of December 31, 2007, the breakdown of the loan portfolio by economic and product sectors is
provided in Note 19.
Credit risk management
Credit risk policy is developed by the Credit Department and Executive Board in line with the risk
profile and strategic plans of the Group. It is approved by the Supervisory Board.
This policy establishes:
•
•
•
•
•

Procedures for generating, analysing, reviewing and approving counterparty risk exposures;
The methodology for the credit assessment of counterparties;
The methodology for the credit rating of counterparties;
The methodology for the evaluation and control of collateral;
Credit documentation requirements;

•
•
•
•

Loan administration procedures;
Procedures for the ongoing monitoring of credit exposures;
Environmental policy; and
Loan loss provisioning policy.
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Loan/credit requests are originated and generated by client managers and credit inspectors. Credit
applications within approved authority limits are approved by the branches or relevant business
generating units. Then copies of these approved requests are submitted to the Credit Department for
post-control, including being assigned a rating and input into a monitoring schedule. Risk exposure
requests above these limits are sent to the Credit Committee. The Credit Committee performs a
secondary analysis and issues a report, rating and opinion. If the credit request is below a certain
authorised limit and receives a positive opinion from the Credit Committee, and is signed off by the
appropriate individuals, then the request is considered approved. If the opinion of risk management is
negative then the request is sent to the Credit Committee for adjudication. If approved and the
transaction is in an amount higher than the competence of the Credit Committee then it is sent to the
Executive Board for approval. Large transactions, as defined above, have to be submitted to the
Supervisory Board for approval.
The Group uses a rating system based on an analysis of four basic criteria: creditworthiness, financial
performance, credit history and other risks.
Credit risk for off-balance sheet financial instruments is defined as the possibility of sustaining a loss
as a result of a party to a financial instrument failing to perform in accordance with the terms of the
contract. The Group uses the same credit policies in entering into conditional obligations as it does
for on-balance sheet financial instruments through established credit approvals, risk control limits
and monitoring procedures.
For certain retail loan products, a credit scoring system is used, plus the Group uses its internal
database and that of the NBAR to identify potentially risky customers. Credit assessments are done
on a portfolio basis concentrating on amount and term limits, approval procedures, target groups,
types of product, default statistics, loan/value ratios (if applicable), and pricing.
Collateral and other credit enhancements
Exposure to credit risk is also assessed and managed, in part, by obtaining, controlling and
monitoring collateral in the form of mortgage interests over property, pledge of assets and securities
and other collateral including deposits, corporate and personal guarantees.
While collateral is an important mitigating factor in assessing the credit risk, it is the Group’s policy
to establish that loans are within the customer’s capacity to repay rather than to rely solely on
security. Collateral is considered as a secondary source of repayment. In limited cases, depending on
the customer’s standing or on the type of product or amounts, the facilities may be unsecured. The
Group has in place various limits on the unsecured portions of its risk portfolio.
The principal types of collateral accepted by the Group are as follows:
•
•
•
•

Commercial real estate;
Residential real estate;
Corporate capital assets;
Corporate liquid assets;

•
•
•

Transport vehicles;
Term deposits;
Other including precious metals.
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The Credit Department is responsible for establishing a schedule of monitoring events, fulfilling this
plan and notifying the appropriate parties if the monitoring results are unsatisfactory and
recommending a plan of action. The Credit Department physically monitors all transactions above an
established amount plus does selected checks of transactions below this amount. All transactions
above a certain amount are first monitored either before or at least within one month of
disbursement. Following this, risk exposures are monitored according to a schedule.
The Credit Department is charged with compiling and reporting on all counterparty credit risk issues,
including compliance with all limits, risk concentrations, portfolio trends, past due and default
statistics, loan loss reserves and collateral statistics. Besides regular monthly reporting, they also
compile reports on adherence to selected credit procedures.
Related party lending
The NBAR has strict definitions regarding the category of “related parties”. Mainly, these are
corporate entities owned/controlled by the Shareholders or the private individuals themselves or
immediate family members. Also included are individuals with senior management/authority
positions in the Group. The largest loan per related party private individual may not be more than 3%
of the consolidated capital of the Group. Per related corporate entity, the limit is 10%. The overall
limit for related party risk exposure is 20%. Pricing and other terms and conditions must be done on
an arms-length basis. The Bank may at times be in breach of certain statutory covenants set out by
the NBAR on related party balances.
Past due, non-performing loans
The Group has in place procedures for reporting and dealing with past-due and non-performing loans
from the first day past-due. Up to 60-day past-dues are all handled by the relevant business units
unless obvious problems are identified earlier. Unsecured retail loans over 60-days past-due are
automatically transferred to the Problematic Loans Department. Corporate loans over 90-days pastdue are also transferred to this department. All loans are placed on non-accrual after 90 days past
due. If the Problematic Loans Department is unsuccessful in collecting on these obligations, then
legal proceedings are instituted. When a loan is deemed uncollectible, recommendations to write-off
these amounts are presented to the Credit Committee and the Executive Board. Final decisions
regarding write-offs are taken by the Supervisory Board.
All past-dues statistics are reported to the Credit Committee on at least a monthly basis. All
corporate loan past-due issues are individually reported to the Credit Committee.
Allowance for loan losses – reserve policy
The Group establishes an allowance for loan losses that represents its estimate of losses incurred in
its risk exposures.
In its IFRS reporting, the Group utilises the methodology contained in the IAS 39 – Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.
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Maximum exposure to credit risk
The Group’s maximum exposure to on balance sheet credit risk is generally reflected in the carrying
amounts of financial assets on the consolidated balance sheet. The impact of possible netting of
assets and liabilities to reduce potential credit exposure is not significant.
The maximum credit risk for off-balance items, mainly letters of credit and guarantees, represents the
gross amount of the commitment. The Group’s maximum exposure to off-balance credit risk is
disclosed in Note 38, “Contingencies and Commitments”.
Credit risk for off-balance sheet financial instruments is defined as the possibility of sustaining a loss
as a result of another party to a financial instrument failing to perform in accordance with the terms
of the contract. The Group uses the same credit policies in making conditional obligations as it does
for on-balance sheet financial instruments through established credit approvals, risk control limits
and monitoring procedures.
Management of insurance risks
Insurance risk. The risk under any one insurance contract is the possibility that the insured event
occurs and the uncertainty of the amount of the resulting claim. By the very nature of an insurance
contract, this risk is random and, therefore, unpredictable for each individual insurance contract.
For a portfolio of insurance contracts where the theory of probability is applied to pricing and
provisioning, the principal risk that the Group faces under its insurance contracts is that the actual
claims and benefit payments exceed the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities. This could occur
because the frequency or severity of claims and benefits may be greater than estimated. Insured
events are random and the actual number and amount of claims and benefits will vary from year to
year from the level established using statistical techniques.
The Group manages its insurance risk by means of established internal procedures which include
underwriting authority levels, pricing policy, approved reinsurers list and ongoing monitoring.
Estimation of insurance loss reserves. Loss provisions are calculated based on the Group’s
historical data. In calculating the estimated cost of unpaid claims (both reported and not), the
Group’s estimation techniques include a combination of loss ratio-based estimates (where the loss
ratio is defined as the ratio between the ultimate cost of insurance claims and insurance premiums
earned in a particular financial year in relation to such claims) and an estimate based upon actual
claims experience using predetermined formulae where a greater weight is given to actual claims
experience as time passes.
The initial loss ratio estimate is an important assumption in the estimation technique and is based on
previous years’ experience, adjusted for factors such as premium rate changes, anticipated market
experience and historical claims inflation. The initial estimate of the loss ratios used for the current
year (before reinsurance) are analysed by type of risk for current and prior year premiums earned.
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Sources of uncertainty in the estimation of future claim payments. Claims on insurance contracts are
payable on a claims-occurrence basis. The Group is liable for all insured events that occurred during
the term of the contract, if the loss is discovered before the end of the contract term. As a result,
liability claims are settled within a short period of time, which historically has not exceeded 3 months
from the end of the contract term. There are several variables that affect the amount and timing of cash
flows from insurance contracts. These mainly relate to the inherent risks of the activities carried out by
both corporate and individual contract holders and the risk management procedures they adopted. The
compensation paid on insurance contracts in the Group’s portfolio primarily consists of monetary
awards granted for:
•
•
•

medical insurance;
physical damage to motor vehicles (for motor vehicle insurance covers); and
financial loss, bodily injury and physical damage suffered by the third parties (caused by the
vehicle owners).

Such awards are lump-sum payments that are calculated by the Group’s in-house underwriters as the
present value of the lost earnings and rehabilitation expenses that the injured party will incur as a
result of the accident.
Reinsurance policy. An element of the Group’s motor, property, third party liability, employer
liability and cargo portfolios is reinsured with local and foreign insurance companies under
reinsurance agreements that reduce the potential maximum exposure that the Group is subject to.
Diversification. Experience shows that the larger the portfolio of similar insurance contracts, the
smaller the relative variability about the expected outcome will be. In addition, a more diversified
portfolio is less likely to be affected by a change in any subset of the portfolio. The Group has
developed its insurance underwriting strategy to diversify the type of insurance risks accepted and
within each of these categories to achieve a sufficiently large population of risks to reduce the
variability of the expected outcome.
Market risk
The Group is exposed to market risks. Market risks arise from open positions in interest rates,
currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and specific market movements.
The Group manages market risk through policies of very limited exposures to these risks and
periodic estimations of the Group’s positions regarding these risks.
The Group does not have any trading positions in financial instruments. Its exposure to the securities
market is the investment, from time to time, in the NBAR notes, Azerbaijan Ministry of Finance
obligations and securities issued by other banks in order to help manage its consolidated liquidity
position. The Group does not normally trade in the derivatives market and has no exposure to this
market.
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Currency risk
The Group is exposed to effects of fluctuation in the prevailing local/foreign currency exchange rates
on its consolidated financial position. Currency risk is the risk that movements in foreign exchange
rates will affect the Group’s income or the value of its portfolios of financial instruments.
The main element in the Group’s risk policy regarding foreign currency risk is that there is no
conscious effort to take a trading position in any currency. Limited open positions occur as a natural
consequence of business operations only. The Group uses every effort to match its assets and
liabilities by currency.
Exposure to foreign exchange risk faced by the Bank is also limited by the NBAR normative
requirements, which place a 10% of capital limit on open positions in any single foreign currency
and a 20% open limit on all foreign currencies.
The foreign exchange exposures are managed by the Financial Management Department. The reports
on open currency positions prepared by the Financial Management Department are reviewed by the
ALCO.
The table below summarises the Group’s consolidated exposure to foreign currency exchange rate
risk at the balance sheet date:
At December 31, 2007
Monetary
Net balance
financial
sheet
liabilities
position

At December 31, 2006
Monetary
Monetary
Net
financial
financial
balance
assets
liabilities
sheet
position

In Azerbaijani
Manats

Monetary
financial
assets

AZN
USD
EUR
Other

72,132,490
32,953,744
3,945,220
159,136

66,832,268
28,168,171
4,787,652
135,037

5,300,222
4,785,573
(842,432)
24,099

38,620,744
22,961,233
2,376,089
55,828

32,428,782
23,109,404
2,755,578
232,540

6,191,962
(148,171)
(399,389)
(176,712)

109,190,590

99,923,128

9,267,462

64,013,.894

58,546,304

5,467,590

The above analysis includes only monetary assets and liabilities. Investments in equities and nonmonetary assets are not considered to give rise to any material currency risk.
The Group has extended loans and advances denominated in foreign currencies. Depending on the
revenue stream and cost structure of the borrower, the possible appreciation of the currencies, in
which loans and advances have been extended against the Azerbaijani Manat may, adversely affect
the borrower’s repayment ability and, therefore, increase the potential of future loan losses.
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The following table presents sensitivities of consolidated profit and loss to reasonably possible
changes in exchange rates applied at the balance sheet date, with all other variables held constant:
At December 31,
2007
Impact on profit
or loss

In Azerbaijani Manats
US Dollars strengthening by 5%
US Dollars weakening by 5%
Euro strengthening by 5%
Euro weakening by 5%
Other strengthening by 5%
Other weakening by 5%

239,279
(239,279)
(42,122)
42,122
1,205
(1,205)

At December 31,
2006
Impact on profit
or loss
(7,409)
7,409
(19,974)
19,974
(8,836)
8,836

Other than as a result of any impact on the Group’s consolidated profit or loss, there is no other
impact on the Group’s consolidated equity as a result of such changes in exchange rates.
The exposure was calculated only for monetary balances denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the respective entity of the Group. The Group’s exposure to currency risk at
the balance sheet date is not representative of the typical exposure during the year.
Other than as a result of any impact on the Group’s consolidated profit or loss, there is no other
impact on the Group’s consolidated equity as a result of such changes in exchange rates.
Interest rate risk
The Group takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest
rates on its consolidated financial position and consolidated cash flows. Interest margins may
increase as a result of such changes, but may reduce or create losses in the event that unexpected
movements arise. Management monitors on a daily basis and sets limits on the level of mismatch of
interest rate repricing that may be undertaken.
At present, the Group manages its interest rate risk by matching, where possible, its maturity and/or
repricing positions. In addition, the Group’s monthly interest margins are continually reviewed in
order to reprice its assets when deemed appropriate. Operational procedures set the acceptable
interest rate margin usually at a minimum 5%. ALCO and the Financial Management Department
constantly monitor the maintenance of this margin. ALCO is also responsible for preparing interest
rate movement reports and forecasts. At present, through the Group’s matching policies for expected
repricing and relatively high interest rate margins achieved in the Group’s markets, the Group does
not more actively manage this risk.
ALCO and the Financial Management Department are responsible for managing interest rate risk, the
Risk Management Committee for controlling and the Executive Board must approve all guidelines
and asset/liability repricing.
The table presents the aggregated amounts of the Group’s consolidated financial assets and liabilities
at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual interest repricing or maturity dates.
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In Azerbaijani Manats

Demand and
less than
1 month

From 1 to
6 months

From 6 to
12 months

More than
1 year to 5
years

Over 5 years

Total

December 31, 2007
Total financial assets
Total financial liabilities

50,582,125
30,705,508

10,525,584
6,644,933

28,712,970
40,690,922

15,670,184
17,913,560

3,699,727
3,978,638

109,190,590
99,933,562

Net interest sensitivity
gap at
December 31, 2007

19,876,617

3,880,651

(11,977,952)

(2,243,376)

(278,911)

9,257,028

December 31, 2006
Total financial assets
Total financial liabilities

29,730,987
4,809,981

2,561,082
7,247,644

19,347,348
33,880,351

12,325,578
12,552,662

127,570
55,666

64,092.564
58,546,305

Net interest sensitivity
gap at
December 31, 2006

24,921,006

(4,686,562)

(14,533,004)

(227,085)

71,904

5,546,259

The Group monitors interest rates for its financial instruments. The table below summarises interest
rates based on reports reviewed by key management personnel:
In % p.a.
Assets
Due from banks
Loans to customers, net
Held to maturity
investments
Finance lease receivable
Liabilities
Customer accounts
Due to banks
Obligation under finance
lease

AZN

2007
USD

Other

AZN

2006
USD

Other

15%
4%-34%

0.6%-14%
10%-36%

1%
19%-28%

15%
6%-36%

0.6%-14%
10%-36%

1%
18%-24%

11%
24%-30%

24%-28%

26%

13%
24%-30%

-

24%

7%-16%
1%-14%

6%-16%
14%-18%

13%
8%-15%

7%-16%
1%-14%

6%-16%
14%-18%

8%-15%
13%

-

24%

-

-

24%

-

The sign “-” in the table above means that the Group does not have the respective assets or liabilities
in corresponding currency.

67

“ATA HOLDING” OPEN JOINT STOCK COMPANY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

Geographical risk concentrations.
The geographical concentration of the Group’s consolidated financial assets and liabilities at
December 31, 2007 is set out below:
Azerbaijan

Other CIS
countries

OECD
countries

December31,
2007
Total

In Azerbaijani Manats
Assets
Non-current assets
Loans to customers (net)
Due from banks
Held to maturity investments
Other non-current assets

61,569,197
5,410,333
15,174,013
362,383

470,984
189,554

2,514,249
5,575

61,569,197
8,395,566
15,174,013
557,512

818,963

-

818,963

2,537,024
19,021,551

-

2,537,024
19,021,551

Total financial assets

106,010,228

660,538

2,519,824

109,190,590

Non-financial assets

35,008,008

-

-

35,008,008

141,018,236

660,538

2,519,824

144,198,598

15,153,346

-

-

15,153,346

1,424,313
209,090
80,937,188
1,894,217

-

-

1,424,313
209,090
80,937,188
1,894,217

315,408

-

-

315,408

Total financial liabilities

99,933,562

-

-

99,933,562

Non-financial liabilities

3,746,940

-

-

3,746,940

103,680,502

-

-

103,680,502

37,337,734

660,538

2,519,824

40,518,096

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Prepayments and deferred expenses
Finance lease receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Current liabilities
Borrowings
Due to banks
Customer accounts
Trade and other payables
Received advances and deferred
revenue

Total liabilities
Net balance sheet position
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The geographical concentration of the Group’s consolidated assets and liabilities at
December 31, 2006 is set out below:
Azerbaijan

OECD

Non-OECD

December 31,
2006
Total

In Azerbaijani Manats
Assets
Non-current assets
Loans to customers (net)
Due from banks
Held to maturity investments
Other non-current assets

34,543,232
1,512,041
3,100,436
3,214,830

214,960
142,881

5,802,419
214,322

34,543,232
7,529,420
3,100,436
3,572,033

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Prepayments and deferred expenses
Finance lease receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

1,640,614
1,579,856
1,312,959
10,814,014

-

-

1,640,614
1,579,856
1,312,959
10,814,014

Total financial assets

57,717,982

357,841

6,016,741

64,092,564

Non-financial assets

26,663,140

-

-

26,663,140

Total assets

84,381,122

357,841

6,016,741

90,755,704

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings

10,501,262

-

-

10,501,262

Current liabilities
Borrowings
Due to banks
Customer accounts
Trade and other payables
Received advances and deferred revenue

632,008
5,809,322
39,362,635
1,657,345
583,731

-

-

632,008
5,809,322
39,362,635
1,657,345
583,731

Total financial liabilities

58,546,303

-

-

58,546,303

Non-financial liabilities

2,745,648

-

-

2,745,648

Total liabilities

61,291,951

-

-

61,291,951

Net balance sheet position

23,089,171

357,841

6,016,741

29,463,753

Liabilities

Assets, liabilities and credit related commitments have generally been based on the country, in which
the counterparty is located. Balances with Azerbaijani counterparties actually outstanding to/from
off-shore companies of these Azerbaijani counterparties are allocated to the caption “Azerbaijan”.
Cash on hand and premises and equipment have been allocated based on the country, in which they
are physically held.
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Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in settling its financial obligations. It
refers to the availability of sufficient funds to meet deposit withdrawals and other financial
commitments associated with financial instruments as they actually fall due. Liquidity risk exists
when the maturities of assets and liabilities do not match. The matching and/or controlled
mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and liabilities is fundamental to the
management of financial institutions.
In order to manage liquidity risk, the Group performs daily monitoring of future expected cash flows
on clients’ and banking operations, which is part of the assets/liabilities management process. The
Executive Board and Supervisory Board set limits on the minimum proportion of maturing funds
available to meet deposit withdrawals and on the minimum level of interbank and other borrowing
facilities that should be in place to cover withdrawals under both normal and stressed conditions.
They also set parameters for the risk diversification of the liability base.
The NBAR has in place minimum levels of liquidity required. Loan agreements with international
financial institutions also have minimum liquidity covenants in their agreements with the Group. As
of December 31, 2007, management consider that the Group was in compliance with all these
covenants.
The Group’s liquidity policy is comprised of the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Projecting cash flows and maintaining the level of liquid assets necessary to ensure liquidity in
various time-bands;
Maintaining a funding plan commensurate with the Group’s strategic goals;
Maintaining a diverse range of funding sources thereby increasing the Group’s borrowing
capacity, domestically as well as from foreign sources;
Maintaining highly liquid and high-quality assets;
Adjusting its product base by time bands against available funding sources;
Daily monitoring of liquidity ratios against regulatory requirements; and
Constant monitoring of asset and liability structures by time-bands.

The Financial Management Department within the Group is charged with the following
responsibilities:
•
•
•
•
•

Compliance with the liquidity requirements of the NBAR as well as with the liquidity
requirement covenants contained in the agreements with foreign lending sources;
Daily reports to management, including reporting to management on the forecast levels of cash
flows in the main currencies (AZN, USD, EUR), cash positions, balance sheet changes;
Constantly controlling/monitoring the level of liquid assets;
Monitoring of deposit and other liability concentrations; and
Maintaining a plan for the instant increase of cash to provide liquidity under stressed
conditions.

ALCO is responsible for ensuring that the Financial Management Department properly manages the
Group’s consolidated liquidity position. Decisions on liquidity positions and management are made
by the Executive Board. Funding plans are approved by the Supervisory Board.
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The undiscounted maturity analysis of financial liabilities at December 31, 2007 is as follows:

In Azerbaijani Manats
Liabilities
Due to banks
Customer accounts

Demand
and less
than
1 month

From 1 to From 3 to
From
3 months 12 months 12 months
to 5 years

Over 5
years

Total
December 31,
2007

11,243
31,024,098

4,667
202,022
6,929,554 42,811,215

7,181,863

-

217,932
87,946,730

Total potential future payments
31,035,341
for financial obligations

6,934,221 43,013,237

7,181,863

-

88,164,662

The undiscounted maturity analysis of financial liabilities at December 31, 2006 is as follows:

In Azerbaijani Manats
Liabilities
Due to banks
Customer accounts

Demand
and less
than
1 month

From 1 to From 3 to
From
3 months 12 months 12 months
to 5 years

Over 5
years

Total
December 31,
2006

1,355,415
14,635,435

2,111,035 2,680,509
3,248,485 21,861,845

2,342,470

-

6,146,959
42,088,235

Total potential future payments
for financial obligations
15,990,850

5,359,520 24,542,354

2,342,470

-

48,235,194

The Group does not use the above undiscounted maturity analysis to manage liquidity. Instead, the
Group monitors expected maturities.
The following two tables show carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities of the
Group grouped on the basis of the remaining period from the balance sheet date to their contractual
maturity date with the exception of government securities, which are shown in the category
“Demand and less than 1 month” based on the fact that management believes that these securities
could be liquidated within one week in the normal course of business.
Management believes that in spite of a substantial portion of customers accounts being on demand,
diversification of these deposits by number and type of depositors, and the past experience of the
Group would indicate that these customer accounts provide a long-term and stable source of funding
for the Group. Customer accounts are classified in the above analysis based on contractual
maturities. However, in accordance with the Civil Code of the Republic of Azerbaijan, individuals
have a right to withdraw their deposits prior to maturity if they forfeit their right to a certain portion
of accrued interest.
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The analysis by expected maturities may be summarised as follows at December 31, 2007:

In Azerbaijani Manats

Demand
and less
than
1 month

From 1 to
3 months

From 3 to
12 months

From 1 to
5 months

Over 12
months

5,541,228
8,395,566

10,466,763
-

15,174,013
412,559

Total
December 31,
2007

28,321,831
-

13,545,223
-

3,694,152
-

61,569,197
8,395,566

33,451

61,326

44,601

5,575

15,174,013
557,512

Assets
Non-current assets
Loans to customers (net)
Due from banks
Held to maturity
investments
Other non-current assets
Current assets
Trade and other
receivables
Prepayments and deferred
expenses
Finance lease receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

818,963

-

-

-

-

818,963

1,116,764
101,481
19,021,551

25,370
-

329,813
-

2,080,360
-

-

1,116,764
2,537,024
19,021,551

Total financial assets

50,582,125

10,525,584

28,712,970

15,670,184

3,699,727

109,190,590

151,533

151,533

757,667

10,455,809

3,636,803

15,153,346

14,243
2,091
28,328,016
1,894,217

14,243
4,182
6,474,975
-

71,216
202,817
39,659,222
-

982,776
6,474,975
-

341,835
-

1,424,313
209,090
80,937,188
1,894,217

315,408

-

-

Total financial iabilities

30,705,508

6,644,933

40,690,922

17,913,560

3,978,638

99,933,562

Net liquidity gap at
December 31, 2007

19,876,617

3,880,651

(11,977,952)

(2,243,376)

(278,911)

9,257,028

Cumulative liquidity gap
at December 31, 2007

19,876,617

23,757,268

11,779,316

9,535,940

9,257,029

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Current liabilities
Borrowings
Due to banks
Customer Accounts
Trade and other payables
Received advances and
deferred revenue
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The analysis by expected maturities may be summarised as follows at December 31, 2006:

In Azerbaijani Manats

Demand
and less
than
1 month

From 1 to
3 months

From 3 to
12 months

From 1 to
5 months

Over 12
months

Total
December 31,
2006

Assets
Non-current assets
Loans to customers (net)
Due from banks
Held to maturity investments
Other non-current assets

1,371,366
7,529,420
3,100,436
3,325,563

2,259,127
155,026

18,884,785
34,292

11,903,598
53,938

124,356
3,215

34,543,232
7,529,420
3,100,436
3,572,033

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Prepayments and deferred
expenses
Finance lease receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

1,640,614

-

-

-

-

1,640,614

1,579,856
369,718
10,814,014

146,928
-

428,271
-

368,042
-

-

1,579,856
1,312,959
10,814,014

Total financial assets

29,730,987

2,561,081

19,347,348

12,325,578

127,571

64,092,564

73,509

189,023

945,114

9,241,110

52,506

10,501,262

4,424
522,839
1,968,132
1,657,345

11,376
2,323,729
4,723,516
-

56,881
2,962,754
29,915,603
-

556,167
2,755,384
-

3,160
-

632,008
5,809,322
39,362,635
1,657,345

583,731

-

-

-

-

583,731

4,809,980

7,247,644

33,880,352

12,552,661

55,666

58,546,303

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Current liabilities
Borrowings
Due to banks
Customer Accounts
Trade and other payables
Received advances and
deferred revenue

Total financial liabilities
Net liquidity gap at
December 31, 2006

24,921,007

(4,686,563) (14,533,004)

Cumulative liquidity gap at
December 31, 2006

24,921,007

20,234,444
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The matching and/or controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and
liabilities is fundamental to the management of the Group. It is unusual for banks ever to be
completely matched since business transacted is often of an uncertain term and of different types. An
unmatched position potentially enhances profitability, but can also increase the risk of losses. The
maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-bearing
liabilities as they mature, are important factors in assessing the liquidity of the Group and its
exposure to changes in interest and exchange rates.
Management believes that in spite of a substantial portion of customers accounts being on demand,
diversification of these deposits by number and type of depositors, and the past experience of the
Group would indicate that these customer accounts provide a long-term and stable source of funding
for the Group.
Liquidity requirements to support calls under guarantees and standby letters of credit are
considerably less than the amount of the commitment because the Group does not generally expect
the third party to draw funds under the agreement. The total outstanding contractual amount of
commitments to extend credit does not necessarily represent future cash requirements, since many of
these commitments will expire or terminate without being funded.
As set out in Note 22, included in the above analysis of maturities, total borrowings of AZN 128,990
thousand are included as “on demand” due to breaches of certain covenants imposed in those
borrowing agreements. Subsequent to the year end date, none of the affected borrowings were
required to be repaid prior to the contractual maturity dates as set out in the relevant borrowing
agreements.
37. MANAGEMENT OF CAPITAL
The objectives of management when managing the Group’s capital are (i) to comply with the capital
requirements set by the NBAR, (ii) to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and (iii) to maintain a sufficient capital base to achieve a capital adequacy ratio based on Basel
Accord of at least 8%. Compliance with capital adequacy ratios set by the NBAR is monitored
monthly with reports outlining their calculation reviewed and signed by the Bank’s Finance Director,
Head of Audit Committee, Chairman of the Board and Head of Internal Audit Department. The other
objectives of capital management are evaluated annually.
Under the current capital requirements set by the NBAR banks have to: (a) hold the minimum level
of total statutory capital of AZN 10,000 thousand (2006: AZN 8,200 thousand); (b) maintain a ratio
of regulatory capital to risk weighted assets (“statutory capital ratio”) at or above a prescribed
minimum of 12% (2006: 12%) and (c) maintain a ratio of tier-1 capital to the risk-weighted assets
(the ‘Tier-1 capital ratio’) at or above the prescribed minimum of 6% (2006: 6%).
Management consider that the Bank, except for certain times, was in compliance with the statutory
capital ratios during the years ended December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006.
The Group, from time to time are also subject to minimum capital requirements established by
covenants stated in loan agreements, including capital adequacy levels calculated in accordance with
the requirements of the Basle Accord, as defined in the International Convergence of Capital
Measurement and Capital Standards (updated April 1998) and Amendment to the Capital Accord to
incorporate market risks (updated November 2005), commonly known as Basel I. The composition
of the Group’s capital calculated in accordance with Basel Accord, based on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group, is as follows:
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December 31,
2007

In Azerbaijani Manats
Tier 1 capital
Share capital
Retained earnings
Minority interest
Less: Fixed and intangible assets
Total qualifying Tier 1 capital
Tier 2 capital
Current year profit
Long term borrowings
Total qualifying Tier 2 capital limited to 100% of Tier 1 capital
Less: Investments in equity shares
Total regulatory capital
Risk-weighted assets:
On-balance sheet
Off-balance sheet
Total risk-weighted assets
Basel ratio

December 31,
2006

47,930,236
(3,357,545)
2,953,405
(25,693,758)
21,832,338

37,595,340
(10,495,067)
2,363,480
(24,643,209)
4,820,544

8,379,828
15,153,346
45,365,512

(4,721,036)
10,501,262
10,600,770

(14,414,824)

(460,000)

30,920,688

10,140,770

153,183,598
153,183,598

90,755,704
90,755,704

20%

11%

As an integral part of the Bank’s capital management procedures Finance Director performs regular
monitoring of compliance with the externally imposed capital requirements and the monitoring
reports are reviewed and approved by Head of Audit Committee, Chairman of the Board and Head of
Internal Audit Department. The Group has complied with all externally imposed capital requirements
throughout 2007.
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38. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS
Legal proceedings
From time to time and in the normal course of business, claims against the Group are received. On
the basis of its own estimates and internal professional advice the Group’s management is of the
opinion that no material losses will be incurred in respect of claims and, accordingly, no provision
has been made in these consolidated financial statements.
Tax legislation
The tax, currency and customs legislation applicable to the Group is subject to varying
interpretations, and changes, which can occur frequently. Management’s interpretation of such
legislation as applied to the transactions and activity of the Group may be challenged by the relevant
authorities.
The tax authorities may be taking a more assertive position in their interpretation of the legislation
and assessments, and it is possible that transactions and activities that have not been challenged in
the past may be challenged. As a result, significant additional taxes, penalties and interest may be
assessed. In Azerbaijan, fiscal periods remain open to review by the authorities in respect of taxes for
three calendar years preceding the year of review. Under certain circumstances reviews may cover
longer periods.
Management believes that its interpretation of the relevant legislation is appropriate and the Group’s
tax, currency legislation and customs positions will be sustained. Accordingly, at December 31, 2007
no provision for potential tax liabilities was recorded (2006: no provision).
In accordance with Article 18 of the Tax Code of the Republic of Azerbaijan effective from
January 1, 2002, tax authorities can make transfer-pricing adjustments and impose additional tax
liabilities in respect of transactions between inter-related entities, which are carried out at non-market
prices, and all transactions, where the price differs from the market price by more than 30%.
Management believes that, the Group is not exposed to any possible transfer-pricing tax adjustments
to be made by the tax authorities as at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006.
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.
Credit related commitments
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as
required. Guarantees and standby letters of credit, which represent irrevocable assurances that the
Group will make payments in the event that a customer cannot meet its obligations to third parties,
carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary and commercial letters of credit, which are written
undertakings by the Group on behalf of a customer authorising a third party to draw drafts on the
Group up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions, are collateralised by the
underlying shipments of goods, to which they relate, or cash deposits and, therefore, carry less risk
than a direct borrowing.
Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorisations to extend credit in the
form of loans, guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend
credit, the Group is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments.
However, the likely amount of loss is less than the total unused commitments since most
commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards.
The Group monitors the term to maturity of credit related commitments because longer-term
commitments generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-term commitments.
Outstanding credit related commitments are, as follows:
Nominal
amount
Contingent liabilities and credit
commitments
Guarantees issued and similar
commitments
Commitments on credits and unused
credit lines
Letters of credit and other transaction
related contingent obligations
Total contingent liabilities and credit
commitments

Risk weighted
amount

Nominal
amount

3,763,843

3,763,843

3,119,705

6,261,026

-

1,396,665

309,325

-

509,886

Risk weighted
amount

3,119,705

-

10,334,194

3,763,843

5,026,256

3,119,705

As at December 31, 2007 an 2006 included in commitments on loans and unused credit lines are
AZN 6,261,026 and AZN 1,396,665, respectively, representing the Group’s commitments to extend
loans within unused credit lined limits that are conditioned on the followings within preliminary
unused limits; and the Group may approve the extension of finance based on a borrower’s financial
performance, debt service and other credit risk characteristics.
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39. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair value is the amount, at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction
between willing parties, other than in a forced sale or liquidation, and is best evidenced by an active
quoted market price.
The estimated fair values of financial instruments have been determined by the Group using
available market information, where it exists, and appropriate valuation methodologies. However,
judgement is necessarily required to interpret market data to determine the estimated fair value. The
Republic of Azerbaijan continues to display some characteristics of an emerging market and
economic conditions continue to limit the volume of activity in the financial markets. Market
quotations may be outdated or reflect distress sale transactions and, therefore, not represent fair
values of financial instruments. Management has used all available market information in estimating
the fair value of financial instruments.
Financial instruments carried at fair value
Investment securities available for sale are carried in the consolidated balance sheet at their fair
value. Fair values were determined based on quoted market prices. Cash and cash equivalents are
carried at amortised cost, which approximates current fair value.
Loans and receivables carried at amortised cost
The fair value of floating rate instruments is normally their carrying amount. The estimated fair value
of fixed interest rate instruments is based on estimated future cash flows expected to be received
discounted at current interest rates for new instruments with similar credit risk and remaining
maturity. Discount rates used depend on currency, maturity of the instrument and credit risk of the
counterparty and were as follows:
2007
Due from other banks – Note 16
Term placements with other banks
Loans and advances to customers – Note 17
Corporate loans
State and public organisations
Loans to individuals – consumer loans
Loans to individuals – purchase of motor vehicles
Loans to individuals – employees
Loans to individuals – mortgage loans
Loans to individuals – other purposes

2006

3.1% to 18.0% p.a.

2.0% to 18.0% p.a.

6.0% to 30.0% p.a.
9.0% to 25.0% p.a.
11.0% to 25.0% p.a.
15.0% to 30.0% p.a.
12.0% to 24.0% p.a.
14.0% to 24.0% p.a.
10.0% to 30.0% p.a.

6.0% to 25.0% p.a.
5.0% to 24.0% p.a.
11.0% to 25.0% p.a.
12.0% to 25.0% p.a.
13.0% to 24.0% p.a.
15.0% to 24.0% p.a.
14.0% to 24.0% p.a.

Refer to Notes 16 and 17 for the estimated fair values of due from other banks and loans and
advances to customers, respectively.
Liabilities carried at amortised cost.
The estimated fair value of fixed interest rate instruments with stated maturity, for which a quoted
market price is not available, was estimated based on expected cash flows discounted at current
interest rates for new instruments with similar credit risk and remaining maturity. The fair value of
liabilities repayable on demand or after a notice period (“demandable liabilities”) is estimated as the
amount payable on demand, discounted from the first date that the amount could be required to be
paid. Refer to Notes 23, 24 and 25 for the estimated fair values of due to other banks, customer
accounts, debt securities in issue, other borrowed funds and other financial and insurance liabilities,
respectively. Discount rates used were consistent with the Bank’s credit risk and also depend on
currency and maturity of the instrument and ranged from 3% p.a. to 25% p.a. (2006: from 3% p.a. to
29% p.a.).
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40. RECONCILIATION OF CLASSES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS WITH
MEASUREMENT CATEGORIES
For the purposes of measurement, the IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition of Measurement,
classifies financial assets into the following categories: (a) loans and receivables; (b) available for
sale financial assets; (c) financial assets held to maturity and (d) financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”). Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss have two subcategories:
(i) assets designated as such upon initial recognition, and (ii) those classified as held for trading. The
following table provides a reconciliation of classes of financial assets with these measurement
categories.

In Azerbaijani Manats
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Mandatory cash balances
with the National Bank of
Azerbaijan
Prepayment and deferred
expenses
Trade and other receivables
Financial lease receivable
Due from banks
- Loans to banks
- Correspondent account
with banks
- Restricted deposits
Loans to customers
- Individuals
- Trading
- Manufacturing
- Construction
- Agriculture
- Other
Investment securities
available for sale
Other financial and
insurance assets:
Other non –current assets

2007
Loans and Availablereceivables for-sale
assets

11,758,201
7,263,350

-

Total

2006
Loans and Availablereceivables for-sale
assets

Total

11,758,201
7,263,350

6,418,361
4,395,653

-

6,418,361
4,395,653

1,116,764
818,963
2,537,024

1,579,856
1,640,614
1,312,959

-

1,579,856
1,640,614
1,312,959

7,636,518

6,715,784

-

6,715,784

594,214
164,834

299,393
514,243

-

299,393
514,243

1,116,764
818,963
2,537,024
7,636,518

-

594,214
164,834

-

29,429,227
16,092,664
9,296,942
3,951,763
2,716,685
81,916

-

-

349,284

349,284

-

460,000

460,000

557,512

-

557,512

3,752,033

-

3,752,033

94,016,577

349,284

Non-financial assets

-

-

Total assets

-

Total financial assets

29,429,227 16,228,141
16,092,664 9,695,411
9,296,942 5,689,320
3,951,763 1,742,119
2,716,685 1,663,289
81,916
27,952

- 16,228,141
- 9,695,411
- 5,689,320
- 1,742,119
- 1,663,289
27,952

94,365,861 61,675,128

460,000 62,135,128

58,817,737

-

- 28,620,576

- 153,183,598

-

- 90,755,704

All of the Group’s consolidated financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost.
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Parties are generally considered to be related if the parties are under common control or one party
has the ability to control the other party or can exercise significant influence over the other party in
making financial or operational decisions. In considering each possible related party relationship,
attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, not merely the legal form.
Included in the “Other” column within this note are related parties falling within the definition of
IAS 24, Related Party Transactions, including transactions with entities over which the Group’s key
management or shareholders have control or significant influence.
At December 31, 2007, the outstanding balances with related parties were as follows:
in Azerbaijani Manats

Loans and Advances to Customers
Allowances for impairment losses
Customer accounts

December 31, 2007
Related party Total category
balances
as per financial
statements
caption
334,219
(7,193)
3,415,284

61,569,197
(1,860,560)
80,937,188

December 31, 2006
Related party Total category
balances
as per financial
statements
caption
261,225
(5,057)
790,804

34,543,232
(1,010,465)
39,362,635

Included in the income statement for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 are the following
amounts, which arose due to transactions with related parties:
in Azerbaijani Manats

December 31, 2007
Related party Total category
balances
as per financial
statements
caption

December 31, 2006
Related party Total category
balances
as per financial
statements
caption

Interest income
Interest expense
Release of)/provision for impairment

41,836
(309,108)
(2,136)

11,179,793
(5,684,354)
-

19,872
(36,265)
1,636

5,411,033
(2,784,327)
-

Key management personnel
compensation:
Short term employee benefits (salaries
and bonuses, payroll taxes and social
security costs, other employee
benefits)

1,196,779

3,850,144

1,186,678

3,802,621
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42. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES
The subsidiaries and associates of the Group included in these consolidated financial statements are
presented in the table below:
Percentage of ownership
Name

Nature of
business

Country of
registration

2007

2006

Subsidiaries:
“Ata Bank” OJSC
“Ata Insurance” LLC
“Ata Leasing” LLC
“Ata Inshaat” LLC
“Ata Tourism” LLC
“Interservice” LLC
“Inter Tourism” LLC
“Ata Security” LLC
“Ata Sanaye” LLC
“Shemkir Broiler” LLC
“Sasa Et Mehsullary” LLC
“Zeyam Company” LLC
“Shemkir Dash Cingil” LLC
“Ata Gida” LLC
“Ata Audit” LLC
“Ata Tekhnology” LLC
“Cyber Net” LLC

Banking
Insurance
Leasing
Construction
Tourism
Service
Tourism
Service
Manufacturing
Broiler
Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Service
Communication
Communication

Azerbaijan
Azerbaijan
Azerbaijan
Azerbaijan
Azerbaijan
Azerbaijan
Azerbaijan
Azerbaijan
Azerbaijan
Azerbaijan
Azerbaijan
Azerbaijan
Azerbaijan
Azerbaijan
Azerbaijan
Azerbaijan
Azerbaijan

76%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
51%

76%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
51%

Associates:
“Kapital Bank” OJSC

Banking

Azerbaijan

20%

-

43. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
Subsequently, on July 2, 2008 the Group has purchased extra shares in “Kapital Bank” OJSC on the
framework of the privatization project of state banks and thus increased its controlling share in this
ex-state entity effectively to 30%. Under the President decree from 19 October 2007, 85% shares
were sold to juridical entities and 10% -to individuals. As of January 1, 2008, Kapital Bank’s assets
made up AZN 249,466. Bank’s liabilities totaled AZN 209,555. Bank had 2,458 employees as of
January 1, 2008.
On June 28, 2008 the Company has reached an agreement with the International Federation of
Associated Wrestling Styles (FILA), whereby the Company is contributing to the operations of the
federation in exchange of the commercial advertisement and promotion in events organized by the
federation. The value of the agreement is USD 6 million and covers periods from 2008 till 2010.
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